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DAY 8 – 16 APRIL 2015 
 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Right, Ms Marks, we have your opening, thank you. 5 

 

MS MARKS:   Thank you.  Sir, AMP’s submission is primarily focused on the 

appropriateness of the residential medium density zonings applied to 

areas of land to the north and west of The Palms Mall.  The evidence 

filed for this hearing focused on the appropriateness for residential use 10 

and intensification and further evidence will be called in the 

commercial hearing. 

 

 Following the filing of the Council’s evidence for the commercial 

chapter earlier this week and through discussions with Ms Scott, I 15 

understand the Council now supports AMP’s position that the 

commercial zoning is a more appropriate one.  On that basis I don’t 

intend to read through my submissions  for you if you are happy to take 

them as read I will call Mr Phillips. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you, we will. 

 

<JEREMY GOODSON PHILLIPS, affirmed [1.16 pm] 

 

25 
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SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Marks. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS MARKS [1.16 pm] 

 

MS MARKS:  Do you confirm that your full name is Jeremy Goodson 5 

Phillips? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   I do. 

 

MS MARKS:   That you hold the position of senior planner and director at 10 

Novo Group? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes. 

 

MS MARKS:   That you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 15 

20 March 2015? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes. 

 

MS MARKS:   Do you have any corrections to make? 20 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   No. 

 

MS MARKS:   Do you confirm that statement is true and correct? 

 25 

MR PHILLIPS:   I do. 

 

MS MARKS:   If you would just provide a brief summary of your evidence 

and answer any questions. 

 30 

MR PHILLIPS:   Sure.  My evidence addresses whether the residential medium 

density zoning proposed for the land to the north and the west of The 

Palms Shopping Centre is appropriate, recognising The Palms 

submission has sought commercial zoning and proposes to present 

further evidence in support of that submission for hearings on the 35 

commercial proposal.  

 

 My evidence concludes that residential zoning of the land will not 

support strategic or residential objectives concerned with housing 

supply and intensification, noting that ownership and land banking by 40 

The Palms of residential property to the north and extensive non-

residential and business uses to the west make residential development 

or intensification unlikely for the life of the plan. 

 

 Also the amenity and quality of the residential environment will be 45 

maintained by the built form rules that would apply to any future 
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commercial development.  Further residential zoning of the land on the 

western side of Marshland Road will not support the existing non-

residential activities in this location that are presently recognised and 

provided for in the operative plan by way of a community footprint 

zoning overlay.   5 

 

 And also residential zoning of the land immediately north of The Palms 

Shopping Centre will not support the recovery, stimulation or 

revitalisation of The Palms Shopping Centre or the Shirley key activity 

centre, nor will it support long term economic and employment growth 10 

in that location or provide sufficient and suitable commercial land 

development capacity in that location as sought by objectives 6.2.5 and 

6.2.6 in the RPS and objectives 3.3.7E and 3.3.10 in the strategic 

directions chapter or the proposed commercial objectives as they 

currently stand. 15 

 

 So based on those conclusions I do not consider that the residential 

medium density zoning proposed is the most appropriate method for 

achieving the relevant objectives having regard to the expectations in 

the order, the strategic directions chapter and section 32.  Thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott, is there still cross-examination? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, there isn’t sir, but if it assists the Panel I have the extract 

from Mr Stevenson’s evidence that has been filed in the commercial 25 

hearing. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And I have just included, it is an extract from attachment C, it is 30 

the responses to site specific submissions in Shirley but on pages 128 to 

131 is the relevant evidence. 

 

  [1.20 pm] 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So I have no questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Maybe if Ms Scott can just summarise what the Council’s 

position is now and whether that has moved from where Mr Blair’s 

evidence had got to? 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Yes, Ms Dawson, that is correct.  There is two areas of land, 

interest 1 is the land to the immediate west and Mr Blair’s evidence did 

support a rezoning to commercial and so does Mr Stevenson in the 

commercial hearing.   

 5 

 In terms of the land to the immediate north, Mr Blair’s evidence has 

been taken over by the further detailed evaluation completed while 

preparing the evidence for the commercial hearing, and Mr Mark 

Stevenson concludes that commercial expansion to the north is 

appropriate and has recommended a commercial core zoning for that 10 

land. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And has Mr Blair been involved in, is satisfied in terms of the 

overall solution.  

 15 

MS SCOTT:   He has indeed been involved in those conversations. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the Council supports Mr Stevenson’s position? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is correct.  That is correct; so Mr Stevenson’s position is 20 

the Council’s position and I confirm that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  So on that basis I have no questions for you, 

Mr Phillips, thank you very much. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   No questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of questions of clarification, actually 

perhaps to you, Ms Scott.  So you mentioned land to the north, just to 

get my geography right, is that land to the top above the purple area 

and what about land to the west? 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   So the land to the west was the rezoning to commercial was 

supported by Mr Blair in his evidence and also by Mr Stevenson. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see.  Mr Phillips, are those pieces of land the same 40 

pieces of land over which The Palms secured resource consent? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   No, so The Palms holds a resource consent in respect of the 

purple land which is presently zoned.  It owns all but two of the 

properties in the land to the north so they are currently residential low 45 
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density dwellings and then on the western side of the road it owns two 

properties.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 

 5 

MR PHILLIPS:   It doesn’t hold resource consents over any of those sites. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And again, just in terms of geography, we 

heard a bit of evidence from Housing New Zealand about their 

aspirations for development in the Shirley area I think, can you give me 10 

any indication of sort of more or less how proximate this shopping 

centre is to the Housing New Zealand estate in that general area? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   I couldn’t actually, I wouldn’t know specifically where 

Housing or the extent of Housing New Zealand’s property interests lie.  15 

Certainly in terms of the land to the north Housing New Zealand own 

one property in there and I think it has got four small units in it but in 

terms of the wider area I am aware Housing New Zealand have 

interests sort of further to the west.  So west of Marshland Road but I 

couldn’t give you specifics as to where that might be.   20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  No further questions thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  I have just go two questions, the first one is 

– and we have only received the commercial evidence very recently – 

my understanding of reading that very quickly yesterday or some of it 

very quickly yesterday is the commercial fringe is proposed to be 

encapsulated within the commercial core and that did I understand from 30 

what you said, Ms Scott, it is probably best addressed at you but I am 

happy, I don’t mind who, but the proposal is for what is shown as CF 

on figure 2 of Mr Phillips’ evidence is actually all to be core 

commercial, is that right? 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   That is correct, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And the second question, and I think is for you, Mr Phillips, 

is there any issue following on from the questions about land 

ownership, it seems to me to be reasonably straightforward where you 40 

and the Council have agreed on land that is owned by your client and 

what about the issue of where land is in private ownership and what 

implications this zoning has for those property owners? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Sure.  And I think my answer would apply on both the 45 

western side and the northern – the area to the north of The Palms so a 



 Page 886 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

slightly different context there.  But the commercial zoning provides 

for residential activity as a permitted activity subject to compliance 

with the standard.  So for those that might want to hold on to their land 

in a particular location and continue with residential activity or pursue 

residential activity they can. 5 

 

 The key driver for seeking commercial zoning is to provide 

opportunities for commercial interests on the western side of 

Marshland Road or for The Palms in terms of its ownership to the north 

in pursuing commercial activity.   10 

 

  [1.25 pm] 

 

 I think it is acknowledged that for commercial activity to practically 

occur north of The Palms conversations would need to occur with 15 

Council who own some small social housing in that location and then 

also Housing New Zealand with that property that I mentioned before, 

but the zoning would facilitate that, provide for it. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Is there any issue in relation to the boundary between the 20 

new commercial zones to the north and the west and in particular the 

residential zonings that immediately abut it, would there be issues of 

notice to neighbours and so forth in relation to what has now been 

agreed between you and the Council? 

 25 

MR PHILLIPS:   Is that in terms of process around - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, I am just thinking in particular the people that live 

one back from Marshland Road west previously thought they had 

residentially zoned land to their immediate east and now the 30 

commercial boundary has moved further to the west, e.g. closer, and 

similarly to the north.  Do you see any issues of process around it? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Well, The Palms sought commercial zoning in terms of its 

primary submissions so they would have had an opportunity to consider 35 

the implications of that and provide further submissions.  You know, 

there would be controls that would manage that interface so that would 

be a matter that will be addressed in the commercial evidence but in 

terms of how development can occur alongside those boundaries.   

 40 

 Certainly in terms of the land on the western side of Marshland Road, 

that has already got a community footprint zoning overlay and on the 

ground in terms of activities the majority of activity down there is 

already developed with non-residential activities.  So there is health 

facilities and other community related businesses and car parking so 45 

that the practical difference in that location is likely to be less of it. 
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DR MITCHELL:   And I suppose just finally, would they have been – and you 

may not know this – but would those property owners have been 

notified about that submission or would they have had to rely on the 

public process to find that out? 5 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   I am not aware of them being notified so I would assume that 

they, yes, they would have had to been aware of the process to have 

found out. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, Mr Phillips.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything – sorry, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, if it may assist I could read to you two paragraphs of 15 

Mr Stevenson’s evidence that explains the commercial fringe and 

commercial core amendment? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   It is paragraph 16.2: “In the notified proposal all of the district 

centres and the majority of the neighbourhood centres are zoned 

commercial core and commercial fringe.  The core covering those areas 

of a centre of a larger bulk and scale, e.g. malls, supermarkets”. 

 25 

 The next paragraph 16.3, “The fringe zone covers those areas towards 

the edge of a centre.  The only difference in terms of built form 

standards between the commercial core and commercial fringe zones in 

respect of activities and built form standards are height limits and the 

setback from residential zones (submissions on height and setbacks are 30 

considered in section 20 of my evidence)”. 

 

 If it assists, sir, following from that there is a recommendation from 

Mr Stevenson that those two zones are so similar in nature that they 

have been combined and called the commercial core zone. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Sorry, my question though is more to do with the fact that, I 

understand it, the land to the west and north was notified as being 

residential mixed density and that the property owners adjacent to that 

new proposed zoning may not be aware that there is a commercial 40 

fringe or any commercial proposed in the plan, that was the basis of the 

question. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, I accept that.  My explanation was in response to your 

question to me about the change from commercial fringe to commercial 45 

core. 
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DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Scott, just to clarify, and obviously we will look at 

this evidence in due course, but do I take from what you have just said 

there that Mr Stevenson’s recommendation for merger of those zones 

would be on the basis that the rules that require setback or in regard to 

residential zoning would be carried over into the combined zone? 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, that is my understanding and those changes flow from 

submissions that have been made on those chapters. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Any questions arising, Ms Marks? 

 

MS MARKS:   No, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Phillips, you may stand down and you may be excused. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.29 pm] 
 

  [1.30 pm] 25 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Prebble. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you, start please. 

 

MR PREBBLE:  Yes.  Thank you, and thank you to the Panel hearing from us.  

Things have clearly changed as part of this process and you will be 

aware of that so what I will is I have a two and a half page opening 35 

which summarises where things have got to in terms of my clients, and 

then I have three witnesses who set out why they still have issues with 

two rules. 

 

 So we are not seeking a substantive change, it is a refinement. 40 

 

 So I begin by saying, sir, that K Bush Road Limited and Brian Gillman 

Limited which are now respectively the submitters, are related 

companies involved in residential land development, and you will, hear 

from Mr Wheelans who is one of the directors of the company, as to 45 

the experience of the company, but since 2000, they have developed 
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over 1,600 lots in 15 different subdivisions in Christchurch and Selwyn 

Districts over that period of time.  

 

 The submission challenged the proposed rules package for the New 

Neighbourhood Zone in the notified version, and the main challenge 5 

was that the rules were too complex and prescriptive and this aligns, in 

my submission, with the new objective 3.3.2.A2 in particular, with the 

objective in broad terms, and I will come back to that. 

 

 The submitters accept that the revised City Council versions of the 10 

rules dated 9 and 26 March 2015 in terms of the revised rules, are an 

improvement, but still say that more changes should be made and on 

that basis, the reason for the focus that we have for today to 

(INDISTINCT 3.20) is that we still maintain that there should be the 

deletion of the 7,000 square metre minimum development rule and the 15 

deletion of the 50 by 50 metre lot dimension rule. 

 

 So that is the main focus of the submitters’ position today, sir. 

 

 And then in paragraph 4, I simply say that beyond this, the submitters 20 

now accept that several of the proposed rules were appropriate or 

otherwise in respect of most of the issues raised in these submissions, 

the submitters now agree that these issues have been acceptably 

addressed in the revised rules that I have referred to. 

 25 

 And I will come shortly to give you a list of what has been agreed to 

and what is at issue. 

 

 So moving very, very quickly to Statutory Considerations because I am 

sure you have heard things about this to death, and essentially, in my 30 

paragraph 5, I say that you have dealt with it in paragraph 27 of your 

Decision 1.  The only reason I go beyond this, is in my paragraph 6, I 

say that we accept that this reflects the decision of the Environment 

Court in Long Bay and you will be familiar with that, and that is 

referred to in the Council’s opening statement, and I have given 35 

references there as necessary, sir. 

 

  [1.35 pm] 

 

 What I do say is that in my submission, the most relevant passage in 40 

the Long Bay assessment of the various section 2 matters, is the 

acceptance of the Court at paragraph 559, that efficiency is not a yield 

in terms of the section 32 assessment.  And I will come back to that in 

the next paragraph.  

 45 
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 So as part of that I, first of all, set that up by saying that that is 

consistent with my clients’ case that the CRPS requirement yield of 15 

houses per hectare should be at the most, not more appropriate outcome 

for residential development under their Replacement Plan in all 

circumstances.  I will qualify that by saying I accept it is not an 5 

absolute control but what we are saying is that we think it actually may 

lead to worse results. 

 

 So if I can take you to my paragraph 8, what I then say is that as the 

Environment Court agreed in Long Bay at paragraph 559, and this was 10 

a quote from a witness, it was then agreed to by the Court, it said, “We 

must be in a world of trade-offs in which the yield or density is 

balanced against other considerations.”   

 

 So what I am saying is that this may seem to you counter intuitive to 15 

what I would otherwise be saying on behalf of a developer client, but 

the reality is that it reflects the focus of the submission and the 

evidence provided by my clients in terms of what they seek to be a 

workable, simple and effective rules package, obviously for the 

Neighbourhood Zone, and the point being that that will in turn enable, 20 

and this is, I guess, the fundamental point, quality residential 

developments. 

 

 And the concern that my clients have is that even with the implements 

(ph 3.01) made, that we have still not got to the point where that can be 25 

approved. 

 

 So if I move to my paragraph 10, I then say that in terms of the overall 

statutory considerations, that this will achieve the new objective 332 in 

terms of minimising unnecessary transaction costs, which is one of the 30 

aspects of the new objective; ill minimise the number, extent and 

prescriptiveness of development controls, which again is a major 

concern; importantly - and I think this may have been missed out of 

some the process to date, I have not sat through so I do not know – it 

will encourage one would hope, innovation and choice; and finally, by 35 

using clear and concise language it makes it easier to understand, which 

has always been fundamental requirement.  

 

 So in terms of the statutory requirements, that is why we are saying the 

removal of these two rules will not make a difference to any of those 40 

aspects and you will still achieve those.  And in essence, that is our 

case. 

 

 So if I can take you to paragraph 13. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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MR PREBBLE:   In terms of revised proposals 8 and 14, which I think are the 

latest two of the revised rules, the submitters support or do not oppose 

the following provisions.  So these are the things that we can say to you 

that are not an issue.  So I have set those out.  Do you want me to read 5 

through those, sir? 

 

  [1.40 pm] 

 

SJH:   No, you do not need to read through that list, thank you. 10 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay, thank you.  So if I can then take you to paragraph 14, 

so to the extent that we maintain a challenge, the challenge is to the 

7,000 square metre rule, which is the 7,000 square metre development 

rule, and the 50 square metre by 50 square metre rule.   15 

 

 So in 15 I have attempted to summarise what my witnesses will be 

saying to over the next half an hour or so.  Effectively they say that 

these rules are unnecessary and impracticable, that few residential 

development companies or building companies will have the capital 20 

necessary to purchase and development an allotment of 7,000 square 

metres in an area as a starting point, in terms of making this whole 

system work. And Mr Wheelans will be able to speak to you about that.  

That the residential development and building companies would not 

normally have the ability to influence subdivision design or building 25 

location beyond the boundaries of the allotments they have purchased, 

and therefore not normally be in a position to influence either of those 

two rules.   

 

 So in other words, that is not going to have the capacity to either 30 

purchase 7,000 square metres or set up a whole series of 50 x 50 

dimension developments within that. So that is part of what 

Mr Wheelans will explain to you, having spent 15 years doing exactly 

this. 

 35 

 And finally, that the size, location and orientation of the clusters of the 

medium density which we all accept is important, because if we want 

to come close to the 15 house per hectare (hh) by hectare requirement 

then we need to have the 10 percent and the 300, but we say that it is 

insufficient to get there, so we say we need to go a bit further. 40 

 

 Finally in 17, I say that the submitters through me submit that under the 

26 March 2015 rules, even now with all of those changes and those 

revisions, we still say that achieving the 15 houses per hectare target 

we consider will be difficult to achieve, and if it is achieved it will be 45 
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achieved in a way that it results in poor outcomes as to residential 

development and urban planning. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 5 

MR PREBBLE:   So apart from that - - - 

 

SJH:   I will just see if there are any questions from the Panel before we go to 

the first witness.  Are there any questions? 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:  No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one clarification, Mr Prebble.  So Mr Wheelans refers 15 

to a range of 13 to 15 households per hectare as being enabling 

sufficient flexibility. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That represents your submission as well? 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, I think fundamentally. Mr Wheelans will be able to 

answer that for you in detail. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   But his experience has been within that range. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you, if you call Mr Wheelans, please.  

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay.  So if I can call Mr Wheelans as a first witness. 

 35 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 

<HAMISH WHEELANS, sworn [1.44 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [1.45 pm] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Can you please confirm that your full name is Hamish 

George Wheelans? 

 5 

MR WHEELANS:   I can. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that you have provided an initial written statement of 

evidence and then a supplementary or summary statement of evidence 

in respect of this matter? 10 

 

MR WHEELANS:   I can. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And can you please confirm that you will answer any 

questions to the best of your knowledge? 15 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes, I will. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Just on that, sir, I need to say that Mr Wheelans 

unfortunately had a cycle accident in the last day or so, hence the knock 20 

on his head, but I have been asked to say that he is not potentially as 

compos mentis as he would otherwise like to be.   

 

SJH:   All right, we will treat him like a concussed All Black then, Mr Prebble. 

 25 

MR PREBBLE:   I just simply make that note, sir. 

 

SJH:   Does he wish to give us a high level summary of his evidence, a 

highlights package? 

 30 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, we have got a summary to be circulated. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 

MR PREBBLE:   Do you have that Hamish? 35 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes.  If my memory serves me. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Correct. 

 40 

SJH:   Yes, just proceed, Mr Wheelans, thank you. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Would you like me to read through my summary or how 

would you like me to deal with that? 

 45 
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SJH:   Well as we have said to other witnesses, we are really after a highlights 

package of your evidence, and maybe taking us through the photos 

when you finish, and explaining them would be a good way to do that. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   That is fine.  My name is Hamish Wheelans, I am a 5 

Director or K Bush Road Limited and General Manager of Brian 

Gillman Limited, submitter 788.  

 

 I have been in this and other subdivision development related roles for 

15 years. Our company has predominately developed the RD2 scenario 10 

within the Proposed District Plan Review, and that has primarily been 

within Christchurch District and Selwyn District. 

 

 I have read the rebuttal evidence of Scott Blair, and I support some of 

those amendments in the Revised Proposal dated 26 March, with those 15 

amendments primarily being the removal of note one, that provided 

Council with an escape clause in relation to the open space to be 

provided, and also the amendment of 8.4.2.5.5 removing the minimum 

area for a recreational reserve of 3,000 square metres. 

 20 

 Now, I was staunchly against the note one, because of the potential for 

Council to remove a reserve late in the piece of a development design 

where high density areas would be required to have amenity, and if that 

amenity was removed the subdivision or development plan would then 

require a significant alteration.  So they have been positive changes. 25 

 

 The areas which I submit are still of concern and have not been 

adequately dealt with by Mr Blair include the inflexibility to provide a 

range of densities over an ODP area if the applicant owned such land.  

To achieve the ultimate density of 15 households per hectare thereby 30 

not acknowledging that some areas within that development area are 

more suitable than others for high, medium or low density, for instance 

high amenity areas or high risk areas or areas of suspect ground 

conditions, such as TC3.   

 35 

 I also am against the rule of a minimum of 7,000 square metres, as 

Mr Prebble has highlighted, and the 50 x 50 dimension for a 

development area.   

 

 And lastly, the minimum residential area allotment of 300 square 40 

metres with the allowance of 10 percent of those lots between 180 and 

300 square metres, and for instance in my evidence-in-chief I refer to 

Delamain, which is a subdivision we did under the first set of Living G 

rules, that had approximately 18 percent of lots less than 300 square 

metres, but we were still unable to achieve 15 households per hectare. 45 
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 Paragraph 4.  The matters I am still at odds with Mr Blair relate directly 

with the subdivision design and provision of building sites attractive to 

the end purchaser.  The rules create a level of complexity which is 

unnecessary and unhelpful and directly impact on the sub-divider’s 

ability to provide a variety of product and amenity sought.  5 

 

 I will just add there, that at the end of the day if we are not comfortable 

with that product we are providing to the market and its saleability, the 

risk is too high on us to create that product because we are not 

confident of our ability to sell it.  Conversely if a bank is not confident 10 

of our ability to sell it then we cannot raise finance to do the develop – 

we cannot raise finance for the development, nothing occurs. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 15 

 In my evidence-in-chief I refer to Delamain development and the living 

G Yaldhurst zone area – I will just clarify – our Delamain development 

was one third of the living G Yaldhurst area, the other third is made up 

of Noble Village which is sitting in abeyance and Kintyre Estates 

which was developed by Enterprise Homes Limited.  And that was 20 

developed successfully, both Enterprise Homes development and 

Delamain. 

 

 This development would have fallen outside of the proposed rules in 

many regards, but would have achieved the overall outcome sought in 25 

my opinion, other than the 15 households per hectare. 

 

 It followed an ODP which was clear, that achieved the key 

infrastructure linkages of transport, water, pedestrian, green spaces and 

provided a range of topologies which can be seen in my evidence-in-30 

chief in the photographs there, provided open space which was usable 

and provided variety of different spaces for different age of children, 

add urban form, but as I say, it did not achieve 15 households per 

hectare. 

 35 

 The reason why it did not achieve 15 households per hectare is because 

some of that land did fall within areas that were – we will not say 

“undevelopable”, but it should not be developed - and those examples 

being within Transpower setback corridors – they were significant 

setbacks that were offset from the outside of the conductors to the edge 40 

of dwellings. 

 

 Sections also sat alongside water races that were re-routed through the 

subdivision rather than being along Buchanans Road for amenity 

reasons, and along those areas we created high density, and along the 45 

waterway corridors we created high density for amenity purposes. 
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 Because of the water course we created linear storm water reserves, 

these were parallel with those water causes rather than create a bathtub 

scenario that can be utilised by other developments.  Again that affects 

setbacks of residential areas of residential sections. 5 

 

 But importantly, from a developers perspective, is that demand did not 

exist for a significant number of high density residential sections.  An 

example being, one of the building companies that have purchased 

multiple lots off us was unable to sell the product that they were 10 

building on those lots because they were two-storey houses on 10 metre 

wide lots and the feasibility of those two-storey houses – sorry, I 

shouldn’t say ‘feasibility’ – the cost of building that two-storey house 

was greater than a single storey house on a bigger lot that costs more 

money, so they walked away from building two-storey houses in which 15 

case it created an environment where the high density was not saleable. 

 

 Of significant concern from my perspective is that the PDPR is 

predicated on the Meadowlands type of development, which is 

proposed off Halswell Road, is currently untested within Christchurch.   20 

 

 The nearest development I can find which achieves a similar density of 

15 households per hectare or greater is Beach Grove in Kaiapoi – and 

this is on Beach Road – driven by the developer/builder for “bums on 

seats”, this is a development that typifies over intensification, lack of 25 

quality and usable open space, lack of community feel, and is an 

indication of what I believe would be quite expected and typical under 

the proposed rules – and I strongly urge the Panel if they are of mind to 

visit both Delamain and Beach Grove to get a visual understanding as 

opposed to what I am describing. 30 

 

 And the last page attached to this summary I have some photos too. 

 

 As developer I need to ensure I am creating a product that the market 

receives well and purchasers willingly buy, a brief demonstration of the 35 

saleability of the likes of Beach Grove I note the following with regard 

to that. 

 

 Within that development 83 lots have been created, or titled I should 

say, most of those titles have speculative dwellings already built upon 40 

as there is a building company is one of the owners of that 

development.  Of the 83, 47 of these are still in the ownership of the 

developers/builders, I think 56 percent; 16, or 20 percent are in 

community housing with Vision West and Housing New Zealand, and 

only 24 percent are sold to private individuals, which to me is not a 45 

successful development, and certainly from an investor or a banker, 
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they will be looking at that with a great level of concern, particularly 

the outlay with the spec homes that are on those sites. 

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 5 

 While the RPS requires an achievement of 15 households per hectare, 

we must acknowledge quality and amenity has a significant part to play 

in any development as Mr Prebble alluded – not just the numbers, we 

must have some flexibility to locate higher densities beyond ownership 

boundaries, even beyond neighbourhood plans, if justification does 10 

allow so.  Through some flexibility and the location of density 

inappropriate development can be avoided. 

 

 And I believe that Mr McCall will raise a matter in relation to – or an 

argument to move that density to other areas outside of ownership. 15 

 

 With respect to items 3.2 to 3.4 in my summary, Mr McCall and Ms 

Seaton will talk further on those. 

 

 In summary, it is possible or even probable the proposed subdivision 20 

and urban design rules will have the opposite effect that Council seeks.  

The added complexity will potentially discourage development (and 

developers), thereby reducing the supply and the variety of housing, 

which is at odds with my understanding of the Statement of 

Expectations.  It will not encourage the achievement of the objectives, 25 

to create 23,700 dwellings by 2028.  Our view is that it will hinder that 

objective. 

 

 And the last page which has three photographs on it, which were taken 

on Monday of this week, where I ran into a tree, the top photos is really 30 

to indicate and you cannot quite see there, but there is also a vehicle to 

the left, three is three vehicles parked there in total, but that is to depict 

that these dwellings here are a single garage where the frontages of the 

garage is less than 50 percent of the frontage of the site, which is what 

the rules require, but there is obviously insufficient area for vehicles to 35 

be parked. 

 

 As does the second photo which shows two trailers on two 

corresponding or two continuous lots, because of the inability to store 

them, and our experience is, that often these single garages are full of 40 

material that is stored, boxes, bicycles, tools or whatever might be in 

there. 

 

 And the third is to, is really to show that we can seek to have passive 

surveillance and rules and objectives about a community, but at the end 45 

of the day it is my belief that if that community is so dense or intensive, 
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that people will turn their back on public spaces and that photo with the 

curtains closed which was taken at approximately 11.00 am in the 

morning really shows that if people do not have the privacy, they will 

turn their back on the public space to avoid being looked in upon. 

 5 

 So I conclude my summary. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [1.58 pm] 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Mr Wheelans, just to confirm 

Cables Road concerns and the concerns in your evidence that you have 

raised, they relate to the subdivision only route that is in the new 

neighbourhood provisions, is that correct? 15 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Sorry, can you clarify the question? 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have raised concerns about the planning provisions in your 

evidence, there are two routes in the new neighbourhood provisions, 20 

one is a subdivision only route, the second is the comprehensive route, 

your concerns relate primary to the subdivision only route? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Correct, sorry. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  You have also raised some concerns in your 

evidence that the Council has maintained the ability to decline the 

vesting of reserves. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   I understand this concern of yours may have existed because of 

the note that was in the notified version of the plan? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Correct. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   For that subdivision only route, you accept that that note has 

now been removed? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes, I do, although Mr McCall has indicated to me that, 40 

within the open space strategy there is still some ability for Council to 

manipulate where reserves may or may not be accepted.  I am unsure of 

the outcome of that, perhaps you could ask Mr McCall next, but my 

concern was in relation to Council’s ability to move the goalposts so to 

speak at a later period when development design has occurred to a high 45 
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level and the development will be sent back to square one.  So if that 

has been removed I am more than satisfied with it. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  You are not a planner, so please if you are not 

comfortable answering the following questions please say so, but I ask 5 

them because you have in your evidence taken a view on how the plan 

should be drafted to achieve Strategic Directions objectives, in 

particular 3.3.2 which is for clarity of language and efficiency objective 

and objective 3.3.4, which is housing capacity and choice. 

 10 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

 Your evidence is, and I refer you to paragraph 45 here, that the 

densities achieved in the new neighbourhood zones should be between 

13 and 15 households per hectare rather than the minimum 15 that has 15 

been notified by the Council.  Do you understand that the Council must 

give effect to the regional policy statement in this planning document? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   I do.  I do understand that, however I don’t accept it.  I 

don’t accept that – the answer is, “yes”; I do believe that Council has to 20 

give effect to it but I don’t believe that it is a correct way of going 

forward.  In other words what I am saying is that having your blinkers 

on because of a rule in the regional policy statement is not necessarily 

the right outcome. 

 25 

 And what I am suggesting in my summary is that the Panel may have 

the ability to allow for flexibility in the location of that density so that 

rather than being focused on ownership area we focus on a greater area, 

such as an outline development plan or a neighbourhood plan, to enable 

an area such as a TC3 area or an area that may be subject to subsidence 30 

or inundation that the density within the subdivision plan could in fact 

be 10 households per hectare but outside of that ownership area it could 

be 20 households per hectare. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay.  In writing your evidence in paragraph 45 did you look at 35 

the regional policy statement when you prepared that part of your 

evidence? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   I didn’t look at the regional policy statement but I am 

aware of the regional policy statement. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  No further questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 45 



 Page 900 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Wheelans.  Did your company, were you 

involved in the regional policy statement or the UDS, the urban 

development strategy process, that sort of led to this 15 households per 

hectare coming into the regional policy statement? 

 5 

MR WHEELANS:   We made a submission on the regional policy statement in 

relation to 15 households per hectare. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You did, so you put your position forward during that 

process? 10 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  I know you are not a planner but I am sort of 

interested in your practical position on this.  I mean the regional policy 15 

statement does say that the 15 households per hectare has to be over the 

whole of the outline development plan area.  So, as you say, that may 

be in several ownerships as you talked about with the Delamain and 

Kincaid, is it? 

 20 

MR WHEELANS:   Kintyre. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Kintyre, yes.  So in practical terms when it comes to doing 

subdivisions within an overall ODP area that is owned by several 

people, how would you see that end outcome of 15 households per 25 

hectare over the whole area is achieved when individuals are doing 

subdivisions at different times? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Well, one practical answer could be, which I think 

Mr McCall will allude to is by way of consent or agreement with an 30 

adjoining property owner or another owner who may have land more 

suitable for high density.  With their consent they may be able to be 

above 15 households per hectare so from an averaging perspective that 

may very well work. 

 35 

 I acknowledge it is very difficult to achieve an ODP, not only from an 

infrastructure perspective but also from a density perspective, so that 

there is no magic bullet.  My contention is that 15 households per 

hectare is not the magic bullet either, a range of 13 to 15 provides an 

opportunity for a variety of product and stock that is attractive to an 40 

end purchaser.  Coming back to the question, the 15 households per 

hectare is in the RPS but it doesn’t mean it is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But say the Council felt it should try and achieve or 

endeavour to ensure that 15, say a number like 15 is achieved over the 45 

whole of the ODP, do you accept that the Council would then need to 



 Page 901 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

have some means of ensuring that, by the time three different owners 

have finally developed the whole of that area independently of each 

other, that there is a mechanism to ensure that is achieved, it is not just 

hope or all landed on the last landowner, for example? 

 5 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

MR WHEELANS:   I believe that can be achieved by way of a mutual 

agreement, a mutual consent, legal documentation.  It is no different 

from what we have had in the past through side agreements in relation 10 

to cost sharing of sewage infrastructure or roading infrastructure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But you accept that some mechanism is necessary?   

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes.   15 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   I think there needs to be some flexibility to enable Council 

to consider rather than saying, “This is the way it has to be”. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So now my next question is, I am not sure if I am – the 

outline development plan that is in the plan at the moment for the 

Delamain area, I don’t think I have that in front of me at the moment.  

But some of the outline development plans that are in the existing plan 25 

are quite detailed, they have multiple plans with residential density and 

movement, network and blue network et cetera.  And some of the other 

ones in the new city plan are pared back to much more just one plan 

with key infrastructure, major roads and things on them.   

 30 

 Do you have any view, from a developer’s point of view, whether it is 

preferable or more practical to front load the outline development plans 

with a lot of detail that then has to be achieved as the subdivisions 

goes, get undertaken, or to have a more minimalist approach in the 

outline plan and then deal with the detail at the subdivision stage as you 35 

work through? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   From a practical perspective and the plan that is in front of 

the moment on the screen? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   That is a minimalist type one. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes, I am not against that, but what it does is it shows the 

clear transportation routes, it shows the connection or connectivity of 

roads.  It shows where the storm water is going to be.  It has an 45 
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indicative location for I presume the “R” is reserves, recreation 

reserves or some other form of reserve.  

 

 I think as long as there is an acceptance that the subdivision consent 

application falls generally in accord with that outline development plan 5 

I think it is a very clear guiding document to the developer and to the 

surrounding landowners that that is what is anticipated.  And if, for 

instance, someone chose to move one of those connection points away 

from – as in the transportation connection points away from where it is 

shown, then there has to be very good justification for that at the time 10 

of subdivision consent application. 

 

 And, for instance, Selwyn District Council in two our recent 

applications have made it clear that we must have our roading 

connections where shown on the ODP, so we have gone back with our 15 

subdivision consent application or the plan and amended that to align 

with the ODP.   

 

 So from our perspective it creates a level of certainty and expectation 

of what is required of us and that is a good thing from my perspective.  20 

The next level of detail beyond what I can see there is the density areas 

that you are referring to and that is what we had in Delamain as a 

hatched area was one density, a crosshatch was another density and that 

also worked well with an acknowledgement by Council officers that it 

was an indicative line on a plan. 25 

 

 And that if our high density A proposed subdivision traversed that 

indicative line on the plan but was generally in the right location that 

was fine as long as we still achieved the amenity, obviously the key 

infrastructure items or key elements and the yield that they wanted to 30 

achieve at the time then they were happy with that.  And that scenario 

worked well from my perspective. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So as the level of detail on the ODP increases and the level of 

specification or the number of things that are specified then there needs 35 

to be some acknowledgement about the indicativeness of some of that 

as opposed to it must be exactly where it is? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Correct. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   To be practical is that what you are saying? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Correct.  At a subdivision consent design phase I sit down 

with Mr McCall, with our landscape architects and our engineers that 

we have on board and we could spend a day working on an indicative 45 



 Page 903 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

plan, a pencil sketch and that could go backwards and forwards three, 

four, five times based on the current level of information required.   

 

 My concern is that if we go to another level of information at 

subdivision consent stage of typologies and the likes, it just becomes 5 

that much harder to come up with a plan that acknowledges the existing 

landform as a starting point, is of high amenity that I would want to 

create and then try and sell to the market but then, thirdly, achieves a 

raft of rules required in the district plan. 

 10 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

 And obviously there is a balance act in all of those items, we can’t turn 

our back on the rules but at the same time there must always be 

flexibility in those rules to achieve the right outcome, and my concern, 15 

coming back to my submission, is that if we are so focused on 15 

houses per hectare within our land ownership area, we are actually 

missing the point of creating a product that people can - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think you have told us that, thank you very much.  Now, I 20 

just have one more question and refer me to Mr McCall or Ms Seaton if 

you think it is appropriate. 

 

 Is the 7,000 square metre concern that you have, that number is used 

twice in the subdivision provisions, once it is for the total area of any 25 

subdivision, so when you come along to subdivide it has got to be at 

least 7,000 square metres, and it is secondly used for the minimum area 

where someone is wanting a building subdivision comprehensive 

development, and you have referred to the – and I think Mr Prebble 

referred to where you have got a building company involved. 30 

 

 Are you concerned about the 7,000 square metres being a minimum 

area for both of those or just for the build and subdivide type 

arrangement? 

 35 

MR WHEELANS:   Well, I think both of those and referring back to Delamain 

in post GFC days, we have made a number of applications to 

amalgamate, re-subdivide, adjust boundaries to provide a saleable 

product and we had to, otherwise we would have been in a period of 

stagnation where nothing was happening. 40 

 

 Now none of those would have been anywhere near 7,000, I think the 

biggest would have been 3,000.  In today’s – under these sets of rules, 

obviously it will be that much more difficult to try and achieve that, so 

that causes me concern. 45 
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 At the same time selling 7,000 metres to a building company to design 

and build, I would say there would only be one builder in Canterbury 

who would even consider taking that on, being Mike Greer Homes, and 

even he, I think, in today’s terms would probably say “no”, to doing 

that.   5 

 

 That then creates a monopolistic situation where he controls the value 

of your land because he knows that if I am doing this and Philip Carter 

is doing that and everybody’s home, he then is the only builder 

prepared to take on that responsibility if he effectively controls the 10 

value of the land. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so just coming back to just the subdivision and 

which you do yourself, although the initial subdivision that you might 

do to put up a certain number of lots in one tranche, may well be more 15 

than 7,000, you said that you have repeatedly come back to re-

subdivide, reconfigure or do that sort of thing, and that is when it may 

be well less than 7,000? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Correct. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, thank you, Mr Wheelans. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Sax? 

 25 

MR SAX:   Yes , good afternoon, Mr Wheelans, a number of questions, thanks.  

I would like to take you away from specific issues of town planning but 

I want to focus my questions more as a developer and your thoughts. 

 

 So firstly, as a general proposition if we increase density in an area, 30 

more houses per hectare, is it a generalisation that the cost per 

household unit diminishes? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Not necessarily, because as the density increases, the cost 

of infrastructure increases exponentially as well.  For instance, the 35 

metreage of roading required for that high density then increases 

significantly as well, so it is very easy to get 10 households per hectare, 

13 households per hectare is getting more difficult.  13 to 15 is then 

becoming even more difficult because you have got to increase the 

roading component, then you increase the roading component, you are 40 

taking the land away from residential.  

 

 So to answer your question, I have not done a statistical analysis over 

the cost per lot and increasing it.  However, what I can say from an 

anecdotal perspective, is once you get to a certain level of density, the 45 

market you are selling into then drops off, you are going into a position 
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where perhaps you are at the peak of triangle rather than the bottom, 

and we know the majority of the market for Christchurch is standalone 

house on a standalone section, it is what exists. 

 

 If you are putting a significant part of your development into a market 5 

which is either investor driven or low income driven, the ability to sell 

that product is then reduced – the size of the market is reduced. 

 

MR SAX:   So as a developer is that not something developers would make 

decisions on themselves, so if they determined that there is not a 10 

market for that, I imagine the developer is not going to be around too 

long if he keeps making the same mistakes. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Correct. 

 15 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MR SAX:   So if the market says I want a 1,000 metre site or a 350 metre site 

or a 190 metre site, why would you be so concerned about what the 

markets may want to uptake and the rate of that uptake; I am just trying 20 

to understand what you are trying to control or achieve here. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   We are not trying to control the market, we are trying to 

provide to the market and if the market is telling us they want 300 

metre sites, I would provide 300 metre sites, but our experience is that 25 

they are looking for standalones, houses on standalone sites, and Beach 

Road, the example that I have provided, shows that 50 percent of that 

site is unsold and they are houses sitting there, irrespective of the value 

on 300 square metre sites, and in actual fact, the range of sites within 

that Beach Grove area that I referred to, I think the range was 168 30 

square metres to 415 square metres.   

 

 So from the affordability perspective, they are affordable but that does 

not mean that people want them. 

 35 

MR SAX:   I understand, so I am trying to understand the concerns about a two 

and a half thousand metre site, for example, 50 metres by 50 metres. 

 

 Just what is your issue there? 

 40 

MR WHEELANS:   The 50 by 50 is I suppose is just another rule added to a 

series of rules to be able to demonstrate to councils that we have 

achieved this.  In Delamain when we went back to re-subdivision, there 

was one row deep of sections, and what I mean by that, there was a 

road on one side, there was amenity on the other side.  Those sections 45 

were approximately 25 square metres deep by six metres wide. 
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 So it was not a 50 by 50 block, we had a block probably 120 metres 

long by 22 metres wide and we re-subdivided that from 10 metre wide 

lots, I think there might have been eight or 10, 10 metre wide lots 

which we then created 16, six metre wide lots and at the end we had 5 

two 10 metre wide lots to create an effect of containment. 

 

 So the middle part was two storey high density, apartment style at the 

end, were single level 10 metre wide apartments, so that worked, but 

again, we did not comply with 50 by 50 if that was what we were 10 

working to today.  

 

MR SAX:   I see. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   So it is a level of flexibility that has been removed in our 15 

development plan. 

 

MR SAX:   I see.  Would you accept that markets change and change quite 

rapidly, I cannot talk about Christchurch but apartment living might 

have been a very foreign thing in Auckland not long ago, high density, 20 

medium density, would have been very foreign. 

 

 Cut to many parts of the world where there is higher density, and that is 

driven by, I would suggest, affordability, it is driven by choices, it is 

driven by just cultural changes, preferences, so how do you as a 25 

developer think you should just accept that developers and the market 

is going to always be in a state of change, so are you trying to control 

or limit something that just shouldn’t be limited? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   No, quite the reverse actually, I am trying to enable the 30 

developer to move with the market so if that apartment market existed 

and wanted four and a half metre wide lots, which is what we have 

built in Marriner Street in Sumner some years ago, that we are able to 

do that.  Whereas here, we have a minimum centre part of a block with 

seven metres and at Delamain I said was six metres, and Marriner 35 

Street was four and a half metres. 

 

 So no, I fully support the ability to move with the market and that is 

why I am concerned that having a series of rules that say you have a 

minimum of this and a minimum of that, puts up barriers to innovation. 40 

 

 And also – I will just add sorry – that what we found with Delamain is 

when you build two storey houses on 10 metre wide lots, the cost of 

going up was greater than the cost of going out, so the individuals were 

coming to us saying I can buy a single house on a 400 metre section, 45 

single storey, standalone house on a 400 metre section, which is 
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cheaper than a two storey house on 180 to 220 square metre section, it 

is a two storey, it has got common party walls where the construction 

cost of going up is more than going out. 

 

 So that affordability then is not necessarily – it is not a matter of saying 5 

you increase density and it is cheaper, not. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

MR SAX:   So if you went back to your example of the 2,500 metre site, which 10 

typically would be road frontage so it would be serviced and road 

frontage.  If you went to say, numerous Auckland examples I am 

familiar with, which is 190 square metres per dwelling, that it would 

give you something like about 13 households per 2,500 metres.  If you 

went to a 15 per hectare model, it will give you 3.8.  So you get an 15 

excess of 300 percent more, so in that equation, would you accept that 

it is probably considerably cheaper because there is no more roading, 

the roading is still the same. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes, I accept there is a kind of scale in that, although you 20 

would then obviously have the same density on the other side of the 

road, then those have to have amenity areas in order for them to 

become saleable.  Well, they don’t have to, but they should have 

amenity areas for them to become saleable, and that I think is what 

Council’s trying to achieve, is a 50 metre wide block to have two lots 25 

of houses.  Okay, if you have that 50 metre wide lot, you then have to 

have another 50 behind that, so there has to be two high-density blocks 

pushed against each other, or you have to have a service lane going 

between the two of them.  So you end up with more roading because 

you have got, effectively, a public road and then a service land in the 30 

back, if those houses are being serviced from the rear. 

 

 Because if they are not being serviced from the rear, then there will be 

a series of garage doors all the way along that frontage which I think, 

the way the rules are set, is that the Council does not want to see garage 35 

doors controlling the frontage, so garages are forced round the back.   

 

 So we end up with, instead of a standard road serving houses on both 

sides, we do end up in a scenario where we have one and a half roads 

per lot.  So that efficiency then affected by the additional roading 40 

required to service the additional lots.  Sorry, hopefully I am making 

sense. 

 

MR SAX:   Just turning to your point under 7, you talked about: “…to provide 

intensification, lack of quality, usable open space, lack of community 45 

field”, etcetera, and your attachments with Beach Grove, is that not 
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more an example of just poor urban design, rather than the aspect of 

what you call over-intensification? 

 

 So if I go back to the examples I mentioned of, say, 190 square metres 

per dwelling, presumably they are all two-storey, but there is a lot more 5 

open space.  There is pocket parks involved in that, there is off-street 

parking involved which clearly cannot be achieved with the urban 

design in this particular example.  So where there is just good urban 

design, and surely that must apply anywhere irrespective of 

intensification, whether it is a 1000 metre lot, a 500 metre lot, or 10 

something less. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   I agree with what you are saying.  I think any development 

can be good or poor depending on the people that are behind it and the 

design scenario.  My father is an accountant; It is all about the 15 

numbers, and unfortunately you get to the point where the numbers ruin 

the quality, and that is my concern, is that Beach Grove has gone too 

far.  And what is that, to me, what is that ultimate number? Is it 10? Is 

it 13, is it 15, or is it 18?  And I think Beach Grove has worked out at 

17 to 18 households being there. 20 

 

 I think the further up that density goes, the exponentially less ability to 

achieve urban design exists, so you then become reliant on roading 

housing, and that is it.  The lower the number, the lower the yield, the 

easier it is to achieve high amenity residential areas. 25 

 

MR SAX:   Can I turn to your point in your opening then of 2.2, removing the 

minimum reserve of 3,000 metres, so do I take it from that if there is 

intensification, the concept of pocket parks where neighbours can 

gather and so-on, would be something you would support? Is that 30 

where you are coming from? 

 

MR WHEELAN:   Yes, very much so, 1,000 lot, even a 500 metre lot that has 

a tree in the middle of it, or an area where someone can sit and reflect, 

makes up for that higher density.  I think the higher density demands 35 

amenity, and that amenity, it does not matter what size it is.  It can be 

500 metres or 1,000 metres, or 1,500 metres and that is why were 

vehemently against 3,000 metres as a minimum, because a 3,000 metre 

reserve becomes too big to become intimate, and you need those 

intimate spaces. 40 

 

MR SAX:   No further questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Wheelans, I have only just got one area to just ask you 

a little bit about, and if you could go to your paragraph 6 for this.   

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 5 

 I am interested just in exploring a little bit further with you this concept 

of the 15 households per hectare that has been spread over several 

developments with some sort of mechanism to allow that to occur.  Just 

incidentally in regard to paragraph 6, that first reference to, “…fell 

within Transpower setback corridors”; have you got any idea of how 10 

much of that yield underachievement was due to that particular matter, 

as compared to other matters in that example? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   I could not say from a mathematical perspective, no.  Off 

the top of my head, it was some years ago that we did that 15 

development, so I couldn’t say. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but your evidence is basically informed from a range 

of experiences which expresses that caution around 15 is a difficult, 

rigid number without some flexibility. 20 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASAN:   Just looking at the ODP concept, the outline development 

plan, and think about the concept of multiple owners and developers 25 

working together to achieve an outcome. 

 

 I am drawing from some experience which was before the Environment 

Court.  Prior to my being a judge, I was counsel, but it is okay to refer 

to it because it is in the public record.  I take from that an 30 

understanding at the moment, correct me if I am wrong, that another 

risk with a prescriptive form of outline development plan involvement, 

say, several developer interests, is that, you might say, prescribe where 

the movement networks are going to be overly prescriptive, description 

of those can mean one developer might feel they have got leverage over 35 

another in terms of ensuring that, say, roads go through property, that 

another person does not own, for instance.  Do you see that as another 

reason why it is important, to maintain flexibility in the concept of an 

outline development plan? 

 40 

MR WHEELANS:   Very much so, and I think that is where the more 

prescriptive it is the more difficult it is to achieve the ODPs, the more 

difficult it is to do any development within that land holding, because it 

only takes one person and then there is example in Halswell where one 

owner has a driveway through the middle of an ODP area, and that 45 

owner has refused to allow the driveway to be sold to the adjoining 
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land owner, where one of the adjoining land owners was a developer, 

he had one third of the block, he sold up, said, “I am outta here.  I can’t 

deal with this anymore”. 

 

 So from my perspective, I would like to see the Public Works Act be 5 

used, but that is probably an unreasonable or unachievable usage. 

 

 ODPs are very difficult to achieve if you do not have everyone on 

board, and the Delamain development that was going through a 

rezoning process was about to fall over because the parties were 10 

starting to fall apart and argue.  We came in and took over that process, 

drove it through the Environment Court through Section 293, and it 

worked.  Well, it worked for two of the parties.  The third parties then 

ran out of money and did not really adhere to the rules, but that is a side 

issue. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You do not need to go into the side issues. 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is probably enough for that point.  Now just finally 

on this idea of exploring the idea of some kind of mechanism which 

allows capacity to achieve, say, a specified yield, bearing in mind the 

regional policy statement requirements, thinking about the mechanism 

of an outline development plan, several developers say co-operating to 25 

achieve something and the dynamics of that. 

 

 So let us assume we follow your suggestion of a, and obviously we 

make a decision, but just for the moment, I mean, allowing for some 

trading to be done between developers, an agreement to satisfy the 30 

Council so that a yield will be achieved over all, but on the basis of 

flexibility for individual development.   

 

 So thinking about the first cab off the ranks, say, so first developer 

comes along, pops into the Council with an agreement with a developer 35 

that may proceed later on in terms of the outline development plan, 

which suggests that in trade for, say, greater flexibility on yield for the 

first development, the later development will cop a higher yield 

requirement.  In that scenario, inevitably, I am right, am I not, that it 

would rely on a rule which would allow discretion to the Council to 40 

say, “No”?  In other words, we are not satisfied that that later 

development will even occur, for instance.  Do you agree with that? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes, I would support that. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, no further questions. 
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SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Hello, Mr Wheelans, I have just got one 

question and it has probably been asked in a number of different ways, 5 

but if we could just perhaps one of those outline development plans on 

the board please, Mr Laing. 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 10 

 It seems to me that there is two different scenarios that you can look at 

from a regulatory point of view, with the development of for example 

North Halswell, which is shown there, which I think is similar to the 

Buchanan’s one, because that is as I understand it, across the road from 

Delamain that you were referring to before. 15 

 

 Could we just go down one please.  If we look at that, and I don’t know 

what the land ownership in that situation is, who owns what, but there 

is essentially two different scenarios, out there? 

 20 

 Given that we have got to achieve this 15 households per hectare 

overall, whether we like it or not that is stipulated in the RPS, but if 

you come along with one of your neighbours and say we have got a 

plan that achieves 15, then it ticks the box and it seems to be fine, 

because you are not foreclosing on anything else. 25 

 

 But if you come along with either your own land or a group of 

landowners that might, I don’t know, three-quarters of that and says 

“We are going to do 13 households per hectare for our bit”.  Where 

does that leave, and how do you deal with the block that’s left, is it 30 

simply left to the Council to say, “We don’t think that gets over the line 

overall, therefore we’ll make you modify what you have submitted”; 

how do you see that working in practice? 

 

MR WHEELANS:   In practice I would anticipate or expect Council to ask the 35 

applicant to justify where, and if you are achieving 13 households a 

hectare under the application why the balance of land is of such high 

amenity to justify the 16 or 17 households per hectare to average that 

out to achieve the overall of 15.  For instance, if the balance of land is 

particularly ugly why would anyone increase the density above 15 40 

households per hectare, it wouldn’t make sense, in which case I would 

say to the Council that it shouldn’t be occurring, or that the lower 

density in your application shouldn’t be occurring. 

 

 So I think Council must still be confident or satisfied that the relocated 45 

density or reallocated density is justified.  If you come back to it, then 



 Page 912 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

what happens to that last landowner, I think some discretion still must 

sit with Council to say, “Well, that last landowner shouldn’t achieve 17 

a hectare because they have no amenity”. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So there is two issues then, there is whether it is practical to 5 

achieve 15 overall when considering the first application, in which case 

the Council would say no, it just doesn’t work.   

 

MR WHEELANS:   Yes. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   And presumably there is also though an issue of equity 

involved in the ‘last man standing’, as it were, being lumbered with 

something that he may or may not want to do, but essentially would 

have to do in order for the outline development plan objective to be 

achieved.  So it just seems to me that you run the risk of getting into an 15 

awful bun fight at some point in this process with a party that is not 

subject to an initial application saying, “<y ability to development my 

land in the context of an outline development that has been proposed, 

have effectively been negated”; well is that a real issue or occurring 

point? (ph 3.45) 20 

 

MR WHEELANS:   Well the Delamain outline development plan had 

indicative density areas within that outline development plan, which to 

me made sense because it gave you a guideline of where that density 

was going to be.  If I went to the Council and said, “Righto, you have a 25 

high density A area here, we are not going to do that we are going to do 

median density”; they asked us, “Where was that high density going to 

be really located to and I will see if I can justify where it should go to 

or whether high amenity area was somewhere else”, and then we were 

told that would not be acceptable.   30 

 

 So I come back to this plan in front of us here.  I think the way of 

resolving that would be to show where areas of higher, medium or 

lower density should be within an outline development plan by 

indication only, and then the subdivision consent is to be generally in 35 

accordance or in general accordance with. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, that is helpful.  Thank you, I understand, thank 

you.  Thank you, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott, anything arising? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Prebble, anything arising from the Panel’s questions or re-45 

examination? 
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MR PREBBLE:   No, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Wheelans.  You may stand down. 

 5 

MR WHEELANS:   Thank you.  

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.34 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes.  10 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Sir, shall we proceed or take a break? 

 

SJH:   No, we will proceed with the next witness. 

 15 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay, if I can call Mr Warren McCall. 

 

<WARREN McCALL, sworn [2.35 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [2.35 pm] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you.  Do you confirm that your full name is Warren 

John McCall? 

 5 

MR McCALL:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that you have provided an initial statement of evidence, 

dated 20 March 2015 in respect of these matters? 

 10 

MR McCALL:   Yes. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And then a further supplementary statement, which I think 

you are in the process of circulating, dated today’s date? 

 15 

MR McCALL:   That is correct. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   And that in respect of both matters that statements are true 

and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 20 

MR McCALL:   Yes. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you.  Can I please ask you to circulate copies of those 

documents if you have them and then answer any questions.   

 25 

SJH:   Yes, if you just go ahead with your summary, thank you. 

 

MR McCALL:   My name is Warren John McCall and I am a surveyor and 

director of Davie Lovell Smith, my position.  I have focused my 

attention of the practical elements of subdivision design and what is 30 

required to achieve good built environment outcomes. 

 

 I have read the rebuttal evidence of Mr Blair, dated 25 March 2015 and 

I agree that a) the minimum reserve area 8.4.2.5.5, should be deleted; 

and b) the ability for the Council to decline open space, RD2 note one 35 

should be deleted.   

 

 I disagree with the following:  a) the 10 percent limit on the number of 

lots less than 300 square metres, that is in zone standard 8.4.2.5.1; b) 

that a short fall in density cannot be transferred to other landowners to 40 

achieve 15 households per hectare density over the whole of an outline 

development plan, and the reference there is D1 and D2; c) 7000 square 

metres minimum development area and 50 by 50 metre lot dimensions 

in RD2 (g).  

 45 
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 I support the introduction of mixed density development to provide a 

range of housing options, however, the 10 percent limit on lots less 

than 300 square metres frustrates the ability to provide good quality 

urban design outcomes that include a real mix of lot sizes and housing 

topologies whilst achieving 15 households per hectare density.   5 

 

 A 10 percent limit on small lots will make it very difficult to achieve 15 

households per hectare target.   

 

 Based on 10 percent allowance, my density calculations indicate that 10 

approximately 85 percent of lots would need to be less than 450 square 

metres to achieve 15 households per hectare.  Of those, only 10 percent 

could be less than 300.  How does it represent choice when 75 percent 

of all lots much be between 300 and 450 square metres? 

 15 

 Why is it that under RD2 up to 80 percent of houses can be a single 

building topology, yet only 10 percent of lots can be less than 300 

square metres.  I believe that a higher proportion of small lots and some 

larger ones are vital to providing a better range of lot sizes with more 

housing diversity of any mixed density. And I ask of up to 25 percent 20 

of lots less than 300 square would allow better variety of lot sizes and 

housing options. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 25 

 Under the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, Policy 6.3.7, 15 

households per hectare density must be achieved over the whole of an 

outline to plan area, however RD1 and RD2 require 15 households per 

hectare for each subdivision application.  D1 and D2 provide for any 

shortfall in density to be transferred to other land that is owned by the 30 

applicant.  However, D1 and D2 should provide for a shortfall in 

density to be transferred to any landowner within the ODP if that 

landowner provides their agreement, so that over the ODP area as a 

whole, 15 is achieved. 

 35 

 Mr Blair in clause 13.13 refers to the need for comprehensive 

development plots to be 50 by 50, and 7,000 square metres.  Based on 

standard subdivision morphology, that includes a minimum width for a 

double row of lots.  This suggests that the Council is forcing a generic 

style of development based around clusters of lots with rear access.  40 

The minimum legal road width of 16 metres is, in my opinion, 

excessive and wasteful of land, however no limit has been set on the 

number of units served by rear access.  Hence, I expect large numbers 

of rear accesses, each for the row of lots either side.  The rear lots will 

need to overlook open space, so a large network of greenway reserves 45 

will be necessary.  Reserves may in fact be far in excess of the 3,000 
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square meters per 10 hectares of development referred to the Council’s 

open space strategy. 

 

 The cost of providing dual road frontage for lots with frontage to both 

legal road and rear access on such a large scale will be of concern to 5 

developers.  I also anticipate that future maintenance of the vast 

number of rear accesses will be problematic, as access lots will be 

owned by multiple land owners, not the Council. 

 

 I can see no reason for a 7,000 square metre minimum developable area 10 

and a 50 by 50 metre dimension under the RD-2G.  These requirements 

are impractical and prevent other approaches to good urban design for 

mixed-density development.  Delamain, for example, includes many 

instances of a single row of lots having road access from the south or 

east.  It also includes comprehensive housing blocks on land areas 15 

much smaller than 7,000.   

 

 In my opinion, those rules as they stand will frustrate the ability to 

achieve good urban design outcomes and will not allow adequate 

choice. 20 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you, Mr McCall.  Just before you finish, are there any 

issues that arose from the questions of Mr Wheelans that you wish to 

comment on? 

 25 

MR MCCALL:   There is nothing in particular, no. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay, fine.  In that case, can you please remain for any 

questions, thank you. 

 30 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [2.44 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon, Mr McCall.  Your evidence is that one of the 35 

key elements of designing a residential subdivision is that the network 

of reserves and how that reserve network integrates into the 

development, is that correct? 

 

MR MCCALL:   I would agree with that, yes. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   My learned friend has acknowledged that the chapter has moved 

some way since your evidence was filed.  First of all, the Council has 

removed the 3,000 square metre minimum requirement for a recreation 

reserve in response to your client’s submission.  Do you accept that 45 
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removal of that requirement affects the density calculations set out in 

your evidence? 

 

MR MCCALL:   No, it does not have any effect on it directly.  It comes down 

to design approach.  I guess we just want to see small pocket parks 5 

rather than be forced to provide large, less intimate parks.  The whole 

thrust of what we try to do with Gilmans is to provide that intimacy to 

provide real amenity value for high-density areas to overlook, and we 

achieve that by providing small pockets. 

 10 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

 There are large parks as well.  They normally have more a utilitarian 

function.  I guess one of the things that I did pick up with Hamish, Mr 

Wheelans, is that there is a lot of reference to the 15 households per 15 

hectare, but no one ever talks about the storm water component, and the 

fact that that is excluded.  What can happen is you end up with these 

impressive looking master plans with sweeping reserves from end to 

end, and by manipulation of figures and functions of those reserves, 

you can vastly affect the yield on a per-hectare basis. 20 

 

 Storm water, as I understand it, is excluded from the calculation so that 

if you have a sweeping reserve, all you need to do is divert some storm 

water into it and with subtle coercion and agreement by a Council 

officer, have it accepted as storm water, therefore that immediately 25 

disappears from the calculation, and the yield goes up drastically. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, Mr McCall.  If I just go back to my question, and 

perhaps I will rephrase it differently.  Would you agree that removing 

that 3,000 square metre requirement enables more flexibility in the 30 

design of your subdivision? 

 

MR MCCALL:   Yes, it does. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And given the value that you have placed on reserves in your 35 

evidence in terms of being essential to have good-quality pockets of 

open space, would you accept that there is some value in requirement a 

minimum reserve width? 

 

MR MCCALL:   I am not quite sure what you mean a minimum width for a 40 

reserve? 

 

MS SCOTT:   A minimum width of greenspace so it could not, for example, 

just be two or three metres wide. 

 45 
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MR MCCAL:   It would come down to the whole purpose for what it is 

serving, but typically reserves would, if it a walkway reserve, it might 

be down to one of the case of these rules, eight metres.  We have not 

any objection with that.  I cannot imagine there would be any reserves 

less than eight metres, but there might be a situation. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you Mr McCall, so just to confirm that, you are 

comfortable with that eight metre width? 

 

MR MCCALL:   Yes. 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  You have also raised some concerns in your 

evidence about the Council eliminating reserves.  You accept that the 

note that raised that concern for you in the context of this plan has been 

removed? 15 

 

MR MCCALL:   I accept the note has been removed, but I was disappointed to 

see it had appeared somewhere slightly lower.  A reference to it still 

was there. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Have you seen the 26 March version of the chapter? 

 

MR MCCALL:   I have seen a lot of versions and I am not sure which one that 

was, sorry. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, that is fine.  In terms of meeting the 15 household per 

hectare requirement set by the RPS, would the removal of the 50 by 50 

metre requirement that you are concerned about enable meeting that 

density, would that make that more achievable? 

 30 

MR MCCALL:   I think the removal of the 50 by 50 is more about creating 

quality urban design outcomes.  The whole thrust of the sort of design 

that we like to do, is we like to spread density across the development.  

We like to create pocket parks, bits of open space, waterways, and I 

guess, take the opportunity to set up high-density housing overlooking 35 

it.  It enables us to absorb the density into the development rather than 

creating a high-impact, heavily built form of chunks or clusters of high 

density.  So it is more a blend, and I believe it is mixed density.  In fact, 

I have a real issue with the way these rules are written in that it seems 

to promote the variable density area as the only place that you can 40 

really ramp up density. 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay thank you, just going back to my question again, removing 45 

the 50 x 50 square metre, your evidence has just been that, that would 
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allow you to achieve better urban design outcomes, is that correct, yes 

or no? 

 

MR McCALL:   The issue - - -  

 5 

MS SCOTT:   It is not a trick question, sir. 

 

MR McCALL:   Well it is, it is, all of these things are interrelated. We have to 

achieve 15 to the hectare. We can achieve it through greater density. 

We can put that density in a variety of places. We can put it in your 50 10 

x 50 if you like, but it will result, I believe, in a poorer outcome in 

some situations. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay thank you, I have got no further questions, sir. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. Hello, Mr McCall, just a couple of quick 

questions, from what I understand from your evidence, is this 

comprehensive development area I think they have now called “the 20 

variable density area” or something like that, that is limited to the seven 

– minimum of 7,000 and the 50 x 50 that is of chief concern to you, 

rather than how the initial subdivision occurs, but it is focusing the 

variable density area on a minimum of 7,000 at both dimensions? 

 25 

MR McCALL:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. You also in your summary for us today, talk about 

your concern about the minimum legal road width of 16 metres, now 

we have not been focusing on that at all to date, in terms of the rules 30 

that are before us, is that one of the – is that in the subdivision chapter 

do you know or the transport chapter? 

 

MR McCALL:   I think it is in – it must be under subdivision, it is in appendix 

8.63. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in your paragraphs 10 and 11 that you have been through 

with us today, where you express your concern about having rear 

accesses and numbers of lots that would inevitably want rear accesses, 

would that be – in your opinion would that be resolved through 40 

addressing this minimum legal road width of 16 metres, or partially 

resolved? 

 

MR McCALL:   I do not think that was really the purpose of my comment. The 

purpose of my comment is that, in view of that large minimum road 45 

width, it becomes apparent to me that if you have got a 50 x 50 metre 
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site, and a Council member saying that there should be double road 

morphology, then clearly you are not going to go fit a road between it. 

And I am guessing that they are imagining packaging these variable 

densities – a developer package them up and selling them to a building 

company. I do not imagine – building companies are not in the business 5 

of land development, they are not aware of the intricacies of it. 

 

 So I think – I am only surmising that they anticipate the building 

company putting in these accesses, and the fact that there is no limit on 

the number of units that offer rear access, which I have never seen in 10 

any district plan, points to using this as a tool to provide access. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So yes, I think I misconstrued you, so your – which I suppose 

is what – this is an example of where everything’s related, I think you 

said in answer to Ms Scott, so you using that as an example about how, 15 

if your constrained to the 7,000 square metres with a 50 x 50 then these 

other rules also come into play and you are driving this, you will be 

driven or a sub-divider been driven towards a certain style of 

development. 

 20 

MR McCALL:   Well they do, I am really looking at these rules as 7,000 

square metre minimum and the 50 x 50 and I got in my mind, “A chunk 

of land, how am I going to develop it? How are we going to lay it out?” 

And to me, it is almost a generic style that you need to have a rear lane, 

which is narrow, it enters, hence the minimum width, eight metres for 25 

an entry for a neighbourhood zone. 

 

 Lot size aside, the one side overlooking a park, the other side 

presumably overlooking less amenity but may be a street, rear access 

and parking, it is one option, and I guess that is our issue is, there is no 30 

ability to provide any other method or approach, and that is what we 

take exception to. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you, Mr McCall. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, Mr McCall, good afternoon, firstly just for the record, Davies 40 

Lovell-Smith apparently do work for Waterloo which I am a director 

of, I have had no personal dealings with the company or I have ever 

met Mr McCall. I have a number of questions, my first one, sir, is try to 

understand why in 7 you would suggest that 25 percent lots of less than 

300, why would you have any suggestion – let me put the question 45 

where I am coming from, generally the smaller the lot, two and a half 
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thousand metres I consider a small lot, the most efficient design 

(INDISTINCT 0.53) is, if it is high density put everything to be high 

density to get the most efficient use of land, open space, parking, 

perhaps (INDISTINCT 1.02) parks as well, so why would you want to 

suggest any limit? 5 

 

MR McCALL:   Sorry, suggest a? 

 

MR SAX:   AP – you have suggested for example an allowance of up to 25 

percent of lots to be less than 300, why not 100% percent of lots to be 10 

less than 300 for example? 

 

MR McCALL:   I would have no problem if it was 100 percent, but I do not 

think that probably achieves the mixed density that you talked about 

because some developers may come along and try to spread that over 15 

an entire area. I do not think the urban design outcomes to be brilliant, 

but in principle I do not have a problem with it. 

 

 I guess we started out, our initial submission was to have – well we 

initially challenged the 300 square metre rule, the Council came back 20 

with no movement on it whatsoever, and I guess I thought, “Well, I 

cannot be unrealistic” so I chose 25 percent. 

 

 I still do not – on the back page of this summary evidence I have given 

a density calculation fall-back with 25 percent scenario, and that still is 25 

very difficult to achieve 15. 

 

MR SAX:    Looking at – could I suggest larger lots, the larger the lot is 

perhaps there is a lot more flexibility in good design to have a much 

broader mix of lot sizes? 30 

 

MR McCALL:   Well I think, the thing is that there has been a lot of confusion 

over this variable density area or comprehensive, under route 2 

especially. 

 35 

 These subdivisions are master planned from the outset. We do not tend 

to just leave a great chunk of land unless we have a developer lined up, 

a building company lined up. We do not tend to just leave them as 

future development lots, we tend to like to integrate it into the whole 

overall design to get a good outcome.  40 

 

 And I suspect this is where the problems have arisen, the problems that 

the Council talks about where at the last minute they are faced with an 

application that has access from the wrong side, no amenity value and 

somehow or other they have decided this is the way of addressing it. 45 

Whereas I cannot for the life of me understand why they do not just 
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address it when the application comes in and assess through it the 

normal channels. 

 

MR SAX:   Just turning to Commissioner Dawson's question on legal road 

width minimum, from a functional point of view many public roads in 5 

Auckland, including industrial area, are 6.5 metres from curb to curb, 

normally with a two metre services strip, other residential are four and 

a half metres from curb to curb, which are perfectly functional, work 

well, so what are you thinking, do you have a view or recommendation 

as to what would be necessary or what you would be recommending for 10 

a typical - - -  

 

MR McCALL:   I am very comfortable - - -  

 

MR SAX:   - - - high density residential? 15 

 

MR McCALL:   I am very comfortable with narrower streets. Selwyn District 

went through a very similar – they went through a subdivision design 

process where they produced a guideline, and they approached us for 

some comment and we encouraged them to allow narrower roads, legal 20 

roads that could be vested in the Council, and I think – without being 

quoted – I think it might be around about 10 metres that we suggested. 

 

 I think in many cases that is enough width to, as you suggest, provide a 

six metre lane, sometimes it maybe narrower, it might be four, a bit of a 25 

berm on either side, some planting, and the whole thing is, it has got to 

be design driven in my view, so telling us that we have to have a 16 

metre road, I find it rather extreme.  It is certainly a big step up from 

the local residential requirements at the moment which I think might be 

12 metres.  30 
 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

 And you know, I would not for a moment suggest that all roads should 

be narrower, I mean, we like to put trees in the berms and in many 35 

cases 16 will be great.  There are also many cases where we have a 

road flanking a reserve which clearly you can reach some economies 

on road works and you do not require the full width.   

 

MR SAX:   I have a question relating to this point 10; “Rear lots need to 40 

overlook public space”.  Do you have a reason for that or that is a 

requirement, and do you agree with that, or, in good urban design, 

would you prefer lots to perhaps be overlooking each other so they face 

in, so there are simple courtyards or central pocket parks which 

encourage people to interrelate better; would you consider that as a 45 

better urban design concept? 
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MR McCALL:   I think that both in the right place, they are equally valid, I 

think there is a case for both.  The point at issue is that we do not seem 

to have any ability to provide the small pocket parks because clearly, 

the push of the Council is to require large parks, and that means to me 5 

the lots overlook a large park. 

 

MR SAX:   Can you just go back to street width again, I am sorry.  As a 

surveyor, you will need to help me a little, I am sure it is in the Plan 

somewhere.  But what street width is in the Plan now that gives you the 10 

ability to create a fee simple title in one of these high density areas, so 

what is the street width, do you know? 

 

MR McCALL:   I actually – I cannot be certain, but I think it maybe 12 metres, 

and that is for a street serving less than 25 lots.  I think it maybe 15 

12 metres.  

 

MR SAX:   Right, okay, that is fine, no further questions thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr McCall, I have only just 20 

got one question but you may or may not be the person that can answer 

it best.  I wanted to follow-up on one issue that I asked Mr Wheelans 

about and relates to the mechanisms for allowing this flexible approach 

to achieving the 15 households per hectare over, say an outline 

development plan involving various developers. 25 

 

 And I just wondered if you had any experience that would give you 

insights in the legal mechanisms that you have seen typically in parties 

between developers working together, how to make that work.  Have 

you got any experience in that area? 30 

 

MR McCALL:   I really, do not have – I really could not tell you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, I will not take it further then, thank you. 

 35 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir, I do not have any questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, anything arising Ms Scott. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising or re-examination. 

 45 

MR PREBBLE:   No, sir. 
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SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down, we will take the afternoon 

adjournment for 15 minutes. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.03 pm] 5 

 

ADJOURNED [3.03 pm] 
 

RESUMED [3.21 pm] 

 10 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Mr Prebble. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, sir, the final witness is Kim Marie Seaton. 

 

<KIM MARIE SEATON, affirmed [3.21 pm] 15 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [3.22 pm] 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Can you please confirm that your full name is Kim Marie 

Seaton, that you have prepared an original statement of evidence in 

respect of this matter and a summary of evidence which you are about 5 

to present, and that both are true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes.  

 10 

MR PREBBLE:   Thank you, can you please remain for any questions after 

you have read that. 

 

 Sir, just before that, one question I had for Ms Seaton was in terms of, 

in respect of the matters questioned of Mr Wheelans, whether 15 

Ms Seaton had any general comments - - - 

 

SJH:   Yes, that is fine. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   - - - in respect of that. 20 

 

SJH:   Do you Ms Seaton? 

 

MS SEATON:   Just one comment really, and that was arising out of your 

questioning in regard to the 15 household per hectare discussions.  25 

Firstly, just to confirm that the RPS is quite clear that 15 households 

per hectare must be achieved across the entire ODP area, so I do not 

think there is any suggestion that that cannot be attained. 

 

 I do think there is some potential within the existing rules, and in 30 

particular the discretionary rules, to enable transfer, shall we say, of 

density if appropriate legal mechanisms can be identified to other 

landowners within the ODP area, such that the 15 per hectare is 

averaged over the whole area. 

 35 

 I do not have any particular experience of exactly what legal 

mechanism might be in place, but it seems to me that there may well be 

some mechanisms that could be appropriately identified if it could be 

proven at the time of the application that those agreements are in place. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Much like a transferrable development right as we might 

have seen in previous district plans?   

 

MS SEATON:   Essentially.  I think the important thing is it would have to be 

at the agreement of that other landowner and I do not think it would be 45 

appropriate to – say you had four landowners – for the other three to 
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essentially land on the other landowner without their say so.  It would 

have to be a bit more thought through than that. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay, thank you.  Can I please leave you to read through 

your summary and then answer any questions after that please. 5 

 

MS SEATON:   Thank you.  May I just briefly note a couple of corrections to 

my evidence. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, of course. 10 

 

MS SEATON:   Thank you.  Just a couple of matters, in relation to my 

evidence - - - 

 

SJH:   Is this your summary or your original? 15 

 

MS SEATON:   In my original thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 20 

MS SEATON:   Paragraph 38 – I make reference to maintaining that the six 

metre minimum width should be achieved rather than a seven metre 

width of allotments.  Following discussions, informal discussions with 

Mr McCall, I would withdraw that and I accept a seven metre width as 

being generally appropriate. 25 

 

 And the same again in paragraph - sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you mean take out everything after the first sentence? 

 30 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, well actually after the second sentence from “However” 

onwards from down there, thank you. And similarly, in paragraph 41, I 

would take out everything after the second sentence. 35 

 

SJH:   So after Terrace apartments? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, so essentially where I am suggesting it should be 6 

metres, I accept now that 7 metres would be appropriate. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SEATON:   Turning to, briefly, to my summary, I have read the rebuttal 

evidence of Mr Blair dated 25 March. The main focus of my 45 

submissions and discussions on behalf of the submitter, and as Mr 
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Prebble has indicated, has been to try and draft provisions that are clear 

and practical from an implementation perspective, and that they are not 

unnecessarily onerous. In this regard, the amendments to the new 

neighbourhood zone provisions provided by the City Council, as dated 

26 March, do represent a considerable improvement on what was 5 

originally notified.  

 

 However, other planners, and I note Mr Blair and Ms Comfort both 

noted this in their cross-examination in response to questioning, have 

stated they do not think the provisions would benefit from further 10 

refinement yet. I do agree with this, and particularly Ms Comfort’s 

statement that there is still some confusion as to how the rules will be 

implemented. I understand that the Council has directed Mr McLeod to 

do some further redrafting, so we look forward to seeing what pops out 

of that.  15 

 

 Remaining areas where I disagree with the City Council and that I 

discuss in my evidence include the requirement for a 7,000 square 

metre minimum developable area and the 50 x 50 minimum dimension 

that has been discussed today already, both of which are in clause 20 

RD2G. I consider both these requirements are unnecessary in the 

context of a comprehensive or a variable density development as a 

component of a subdivision only route. 

 

 I understand from recent informal discussions with Council officers, 25 

including Mr Blair, that these provisions are intended to address the 

potential for poorly thought out subdivision design which results in a 

low level of amenity for medium residential density development, and 

which can cause problems at the point of which builders come to 

actually erect medium density units.  30 

 

 Examples that Council officers have given me include allotments that 

are orientated poorly, so for example, they are on the wrong side of the 

open space, have poor vehicle access arrangements, or are of 

insufficient depth to achieve buildings that meet the built form 35 

standards. In my opinion, the comprehensive or the variable density 

development stage is not the appropriate point in the development 

process to be addressing or remedying subdivision design. Rather, the 

size, location, orientation of medium density allotments or clusters 

should be a consideration, by that I say a matter of assessment, during 40 

the initial greenfield subdivision stage. 

 

 It is for this reason that I recommend the deletion of the 7,000 square 

metre and the 50 x 50 metre dimension requirements in RD2G.  

 45 
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 Third area of remaining concern is the provision for allotments of less 

than 3,000 square metres in the new neighbourhood zones. The RD2 

rule as currently drafted includes provision for an allowance of 10 

percent of allotments as was discussed with Mr McCall earlier. Mr 

McCall has stated that he considers that 10 percent allowance is 5 

insufficient to achieve real diversity of lot sizes. I agree that the 

subdivision rules and related built form rules as currently drafted are 

not particularly flexibility in regard to lot size, and the likely outcome 

will be either a relatively homogenous urban form, as Mr McCall has 

suggested, or land use and subdivision consents will be required for 10 

many developments less than 300 metres square in area. Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [3.29 pm] 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, good afternoon. So your client’s concern and your 

evidence is focused on the subdivision only route, and that is what your 

client has opposed. Sorry, let me start again. Your client’s concern is 

focused on the subdivision only route, is that correct? 20 

 

MS SEATON:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And your client opposed the notified subdivision route in its 

entirety in its submission? 25 

 

MS SEATON:   In the original submission it did, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You accept that through the rezoning to new neighbourhood that 

an ODP for those areas of land have been included in the notified 30 

proposal? 

 

MS SEATON:   For the new neighbourhood zones, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And this is a requirement of policy 6.3.3 of the RPS? 35 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have the RPS in front of you? 

 40 

MS SEATON:   Somewhere. Which particular provision? 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   I am just going to refer you to objective 6.2.2. 45 
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MR PREBBLE:   Sir, I wonder if my friend may assist by just providing 6.2.2 

to her, to save some time. 

 

SJH:   It is on the screen, it is up there now. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  You raise concerns, Ms Seaton, in your evidence 

about the requirement for a mix of typologies.  Objective 6.2.2, you 

accept that paragraph 2 directs a greater range of housing types are 

provided, particularly in greenfield priority areas? 

 10 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And one way of achieving that higher order statutory direction is 

to require a mix of building typologies? 

 15 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Rather than requiring a minimum percentage of each housing 

type, would you consider there to be more flexibility in a single 

standard that stated that no single housing typology shall comprise 20 

more than 80 percent of the total number of residential units? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Just moving to the 7,000 figure, would you accept that the 25 

relationship between buildings and spaces within an area is important 

when developing to higher residential densities? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   And that external interface issues, in terms of effects on adjacent 

development, is also important when developing to higher densities? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Would you agree that one way of ensuring these important 

elements of higher density living is to set a minimum developable area? 

 

MS SEATON:   It is one way but I don’t think it is an effective way, no. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   You do not think it is an effective way? 

 

MS SEATON:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could turn to paragraph 20 of your evidence please.   45 
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MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   My understanding from that paragraph was that you considered 

that a minimum 7,000 square metre developable area for the 

subdivision only route is appropriate provided the activity status 5 

remains restricted discretionary, is that not your evidence there? 

 

MS SEATON:   For the subdivision only route, yes, as opposed to the RD2G 

route. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Okay.  But just to make that clear, for the subdivision only route 

you are comfortable with that 7,000 figure? 

 

MS SEATON:   With the restricted discretionary status if it is not complied 

with, yes. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, okay.  And removal of the 50 x 50 metre requirement from 

that subdivision only route, that would address your remaining concern 

for that subdivision only avenue? 

 20 

MS SEATON:   My memory is that that 50 by 50 metre requirement is an 

RD2G as in the comprehensive route not the subdivision only. 

 

MS SCOTT:   It is also in the subdivision only route, RD2GI.   

 25 

MS SEATON:   Bear with me.  RD2G. 

 

MS SCOTT:   G1, sorry. 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I would prefer to see it removed from RDG1. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay.  And my question was if that was removed that would 

address your remaining concern with that subdivision only route? 

 

MS SEATON:   If the 50 x 50 reference was removed and the 7,000 square 35 

metre was removed from RD2G then, yes, that would address my 

primary concerns.  There are two references to 7,000 square metres as 

you will appreciate so we are focusing on the RD2G reference. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, but in terms of, stepping away from G, just in terms of the 40 

subdivision only route, if there is that minimum 7,000, just to remove 

any confusion between the two, you are comfortable with that but just 

not in G, that is correct? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, correct. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  In terms of your comments about reserves, the 

chapter has of course moved some way from your earlier evidence, the 

3,000 square metre minimum area has been removed.  In response there 

has been an inclusion to the non-statutory guidance in respect of the 

Council’s open space strategy be included, this helps achieve the 5 

Statement of Expectations by reducing prescription in the plan, do you 

agree? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I would agree. 

 10 

  [3.35 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Mr McCall’s evidence is that one of the key elements of 

designing a residential subdivision is the network of reserves.  Would 

you also accept that there is some value in requiring a minimum reserve 15 

width? 

 

MS SEATON:   I would defer to Mr McCall on that but, yes, based on what his 

evidence is, yes. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   You have raised a concern about the minimum residential 

allotment size and range in paragraph 34 of your evidence.  Would an 

amendment to the corresponding built form standards in chapter 14, 

and just for reference it is 2.14.6.3.3.  So would an amendment to that 

built form standard for maximum site coverage for lots within the area 25 

of 300 square metres and under to 45 percent be one way of increasing 

the efficient use of allotments? 

 

MS SEATON:   It would be, I would question whether 45 would be sufficient 

in all instances but, yes, it would be. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   And a reduction of the default building setback from internal 

boundaries from 1.8 metres to one metre, that would enable greater 

density? 

 35 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I would (ph 1.16) suggest. (ph 1.17) 

 

MS SCOTT:   And further reduction of some road boundary setbacks in 

14.6.3.12 would create more flexibility for development design, would 

you agree with that? 40 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  No further questions, sir. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Seaton.  Thank you for your evidence and 

particularly for your attachment at the back with the changes that your 

client wants nice and clearly outlined.  I think you have answered most 

of my questions in relation to your discussion with Ms Scott.   5 

 

 Can I just confirm in relation to D2, which is this rule that says that the 

density requirements can only be transferred, if you can call it that, to 

another piece of land that is owned by the same landowner.  Is your 

evidence that your concern would it be satisfied if this allowed the 10 

same transfer to occur to another landowner within the same ODP by 

agreement? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Provided there is some mechanism to ensure that that is 

achievable? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I think so, yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   And it would be within that D2 requirement? 

 

MS SEATON:   I think that would be the appropriate point for it, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And also just confirm up what you have said to Ms Scott that 25 

you are cognisant of the fact that any other standards for RD2, the 

subdivision requirement, other than the 15 households per hectare, if 

they are not met they remain a restricted discretionary? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I think that is quite important.  If you do not mind I will 30 

very briefly explain why? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, it has not been highlighted to date. 

 

MS SEATON:   No, the reason for that, originally they are all basic, I think 35 

from memory, it either defaulted to a fully discretionary or possibly 

even non-complying in places if it did not comply. The issue and to 

some extent it is still an ongoing issue with this rule is that it is very 

much targeted towards the initial greenfield subdivision, it does not 

contemplate the subsequent, you know, one and two lot subdivisions 40 

that inevitably happen down the line whether by the developer, as 

Mr Wheelans implied, or even the so called mum and dad subdivisions, 

it does not deal with that at all. 

 

 So the change in the status is something we discussed with Council is 45 

really I guess a reasonably blunt way of trying to address that so if they 
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do not meet that multiple typologies, which they will not if it is only a 

two lot subdivision, or they cannot achieve the 15 per hectare – or, 

sorry, that actually that is a very poor example.  If they cannot achieve 

some other aspects of that rule they are not going to effectively get 

penalised into a full discretionary status simply because of the size of 5 

the subdivision, they are just too small to make it practical.   

 

 So what we asked is that please make it a restricted discretionary to not 

comply with those provisions and that is, as I say, a fairly blunt way of 

dealing to the small subdivisions that simply cannot comply anyway. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it is an unusual, and as you say perhaps blunt way of 

- - - 

 

MS SEATON:   It is blunt. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if someone, and I think I asked Mr Wheelans this, if there 

is a subsequent subdivision, for example that is just of one lot into two 

or three lots being rejigged, it is well under the 7,000 square metre 

subdivision threshold, it would still be a restricted discretionary and 20 

that is an important point from your view of (INDISTINCT 4.38)? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, it is and that is exactly why we asked for that restricted 

discretionary. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Now, I think in your summary 

statement you obviously have been keeping up with the transcripts or 

hearing what has being going on in terms of this whole suite of rules, 

both the zoning, the land use rules and the subdivision rules and the 

need for considerable amendment and tidy up.   30 

 

 So I mean in your opinion you think that it would still be a helpful 

thing to do that tidy-up? 

 

  [3.40 pm] 35 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, very much so.  We have been focusing very much on, I 

guess the key elements of the rules, and some of the finer drafting 

details have suffered a bit as a consequence.   

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I will not ask you any questions, because we have 

enough going over those, but thank you for confirming the need for 

that. 

 

MS SEATON:   Thank you.   45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, good afternoon Ms Seaton.  Just a couple of questions, thank 

you.  I am trying to understand the 50 x 50 metre, 2,500 square metres.  

Look, this is only a guesstimate, but in your view is there a minimum 5 

practical size, if you are looking at intensification, where just with good 

urban design there must some limit, you have an instinct as to what that 

is?  Because if you are going to get good design with a lot of the 

amenities we are talking about there must be some limit, is it 2000 

metres or 1500 metres, what are we trying to achieve here, what are we 10 

looking at? 

 

MS SEATON:   Let me take a step back for a moment, the issue with the 50 x 

50 is not saying that there is particular size or a particular minimum 

size that is appropriate to determine good urban design outcomes.  The 15 

issue with the 50 x 50 is it is too prescriptive, and does not allow 

enough flexibility - - - 

 

MR SAX:   So it could be 2000? 

 20 

MS SEATON:   - - - so it might be more than 50 x 50, it might be elongated, as 

the examples that Mr Wheelans gave at Delamain. 

 

MR SAX:   Yes. 

 25 

MS SEATON:   So the problem is, it is just going to end up triggering resource 

consents for the sake of specifying and area that we would consider.  In 

terms of what is going to determine a good urban design outcome, you 

might be looking it down as a single or a two lot size subdivision with a 

duplex or a very short row of apartments or something.  But the point 30 

is, I would not specify a minimum area that triggers considerations for 

those matters.  Does that make sense, it becomes too prescriptive.  

 

MR SAX:   On prescriptiveness, I would take you to your point 6, and let us 

assuming we agree, and I am not suggesting we do, and I quote “rather 35 

the size, location, orientation of medium density allotments or clusters 

should be a consideration, a matter of assessment.”  My question is the 

assessment by who, and what are you contemplating would be the 

regime around that specific assessment? 

 40 

MS SEATON:   The initial subdivision is a restricted discretionary activity, 

and one of the matters that Council’s look at is the design of the 

subdivision, the layout and is it going to achieve a good quality of 

outcome.  Sorry, I do not have the assessment matters directly in front 

of me. 45 
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 The appropriate point to be determining whether the higher density or 

the areas that are determined for higher density are appropriately 

located and orientated in their right size is during that initial 

subdivision design stage.  Does that answer your question?  I may have 

gone slightly off point there, sorry. 5 

 

 What the Council indicated to us when we had informal discussions 

with them, is that their main concern is subdivision and the things they 

were trying to control later down the line with that 7,000 square metre 

minimum was subdivision design, and by the time the builders get to 10 

their lots, in their 2000 square metre lot or whatever they have got, it is 

too late to be influencing subdivision design. 

 

 They need to be dealing with it upfront at the time of the initial 

greenfield subdivision, because those lots are basically set there.  We 15 

know where their orientation is, we know where they sit in relation to 

the open space, their depth is determined, the builders do not have any 

influence over those matters. 

 

MR SAX:   So help me a little on that.  If we were trying to go down the – let 20 

us call it codifying, so restrictive discretionary was effectively limited, 

or in fact eliminated, except for maybe control.  So leave aside heights 

of boundary and issues like that, perhaps roading widths which we have 

heard about also, have you applied your minds to codifying the things 

that you think are important to size, location, orientation, so there is in 25 

fact no discretion, or restricted discretionary – so it is quite clear to any 

landowner or developer precisely which will be compliant, so therefore 

done as a right.  

 

MS SEATON:   Are you talking about the initial subdivision stage or the 30 

subsequent - - - 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, it could be at either stage, because I would have thought many 

would not go to the developed design until stage two, but just accepting 

it is at the subdivision stage. 35 

 

MS SEATON:   Proximity to amenity, adequate depth of allotment to enable 

built-form standards to be achieved, and orientation I think are the three 

key things that would need to be a matter of control, so they are 

adequately considered when the initial subdivision is done.  Because if 40 

the Council does not have the ability to control those matters or 

consider them, this is when you have the potential to start getting some 

quite poor design outcomes, so the poor old builder at the other end, he 

ends up with a lot that is not particularly helpfully orientated or sized or 

whatever the issue might be. 45 
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  [3.45 pm] 

 

MR SAX:   So those examples you gave me, I would have thought could have 

been codified and stipulated upfront.  For example, if it is agreed 

amenities, a certain distance, et cetera, why could one not apply their 5 

(INDISTINCT 0.26) upfront, leaving stage 2 of course to restricted 

discretionary, things that fell outside of that or indeed non-complying? 

 

MS SEATON:   You could do it to a point provided you did not start to get too 

prescriptive, as to what was to be achieved. 10 

 

 My preference would probably be less codified and more discretion 

because you do not want to start stymieing innovation and choice as to 

how the designs will happen unless you have something other in mind 

that I am understanding. 15 

 

MR SAX:   I think where I am coming from, the more that is codified and 

complying, that takes care of that block.  It might be 70 percent, it 

might be 50 percent, it might be 90 percent, restricted discretionary 

takes care of exactly the point you are mentioning, innovation, does it 20 

not, create a flair in different thinking that has come to bear in future 

years?  

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I may be misunderstanding what it is that you mean by 

codifying at the outset. 25 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, codifying, so an example would be if there is a distance to 

amenities that was considered an important issue, then one would 

stipulate and would say define those and say within a certain radius that 

box is ticked, for example? 30 

 

MS SEATON:   I do think you are talking about getting some reasonably 

prescriptive elements that could be problematic in terms of the 

subdivision design. 

 35 

MR SAX:   So your thoughts are that it would be more problematic than 

helpful? 

 

MS SEATON:   I think so yes, based on the evidence, particularly of 

Mr McCall and Mr Wheelans, in their desire for flexibility and choice 40 

and how they achieve their designs, it seems to be the more you codify 

upfront, there is always that difficult balance between certainty and 

flexibility. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Sax.  Ms Seaton, just a couple of questions 

actually and just for these if you could go to Mr Blair’s last version, 

chapter 8 page 8, and I just have a couple of questions on this figure 

over on page 9. 

 5 

 I just want to talk to you a little bit about this potential aspects of this 

mechanism which I have been testing with other witnesses, and you 

have helpfully provided some clarity on that with your earlier points 

made, and Ms Dawson was asking you about this, you were discussing 

D2, which is just down the page a little bit, and I think your answers 10 

there were, well if the flexibility was allowed for that transfer to occur 

to someone who was not the registered proprietor subject to an 

appropriate legal mechanism. 

 

 Just in terms of that legal mechanism, thinking about that, in other 15 

words, thinking about the requirements of such a mechanism, I guess 

one of them is that it has to be locked – locked in with security that it 

cannot be reneged from in any sort of sense that would result in a 

failure to achieve the density. 

 20 

 That would be a starting point, would it not? 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I would agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think something like a requirement set by a 25 

standard, for instance, and I am going to ask you about the activity 

status in a minute, but a requirement set by a standard for instance to 

require something in the nature of a covenant to be registered on the 

title, is that what you had in mind? 

 30 

MS SEATON:   Yes, if the covenant – not being a lawyer – but a covenant 

would be one obvious option I would have thought. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So something which might be – or perhaps another 

mechanism might be a consent notice - - - 35 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I was just going to say the other option might be a 

consent notice alongside the written approval of that landowner that 

they accept that. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SEATON:   Whichever mechanisms are used, it would have to run with the 

land and not with the landowner. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I suppose we would have to think about whether a 

consent notice would work, it probably would not work if it was 

outside the land to be subdivided, but maybe something in the nature of 

a consent notice, in other words, something that binds subsequent 

owners and occupiers for a long time (ph. 4.28). 5 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So with something like that, I know your answer was just 

in regard to D2 and you did not address, because it is beyond I think, 10 

the immediate interest of your client to address D1 which is 

comprehensive subdivision.  But just in terms of your knowledge and 

experience as a planning expert, can you see any reason why that same 

mechanism should not just be reflected in both rules? 

 15 

MS SEATON:   No, no, the rules are very similarly written, they are essentially 

dealing with the same issue which is achieving an average of 15 per 

hectare over the entire ODP so I cannot, off the top of my head think of 

why that would not be appropriate.  
 20 

  [3.50 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And just in terms of activity categorisation, at the moment 

specified there is discretionary. If one was just seeking to ensure the 

regional policy statement requirements were achieved through the plan, 25 

do you see any reason why it must be discretionary, or do you see that 

you could support restricted discretionary and still ensure the plan 

achieved the requirements of the Regional Policy Statement? 

 

MS SEATON:   I would fall towards discretionary rather than restricted 30 

discretionary. In my experience, restricted discretionary consents are 

rarely turned down. They are generally an indication that the plan 

envisages the sorts of activities that you are proposing, so I do not 

know that restricted discretionary activity for a density of less than 15 

per hectare, is that what you are suggesting? 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, actually, perhaps I will rephrase the question a little 

bit, bearing in mind a restricted discretionary activity can be declined 

by the Act, but perhaps more in a legal sense, it brings focus to the only 

valid matters of discretion for the purposes of decision making, rather 40 

than the open-ended nature of a discretionary activity and the matters 

that can be considered. It can be declined.  

 

 If the focus was on, for instance, the Council being satisfied that the 

transfer would see the giving effect to the RPS requirements of 15 45 

households per hectare over the entire development, and that the legal 
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mechanism for securing that was appropriate, something of that nature 

which allowed the Council discretion to say we are not satisfied that 

those things would be adhered to. Not satisfied with the legal 

mechanism or, we are actually not satisfied that it is going to be 

delivered anyway.  5 

 

 If that was the focus of consideration, can you think of anything else, I 

guess, that the Council would need to focus on to make the right 

decision? I guess that is a way of putting it. 

 10 

MS SEATON:   Yes, sorry, I better understand your question now. No, I think 

what you have outlined is probably the key things that would look at 

really. I mean, the issues at hand would be quite restrictive is are you 

achieving 15 per hectare, or are you going to achieve it across the wider 

ODP, or are you not? Broader considerations, I would not have thought 15 

would start to enter into it. So in that respect, yes, restricted 

discretionary may be appropriate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 

 20 

SJG:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir. Hello, Ms Seaton. I have just got one 

question. In terms of the mechanism that you have proposed, does that 

rely on the fact that an outlined development plan specifies densities in 25 

particular locations, or at least indicative densities in individual 

locations? 

 

MS SEATON:   No, I think, we are talking about the legal mechanism to 

transfer to another land ownership. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I am not saying that. 

 

MS SEATON:   Sorry, what are we talking about? 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   I am saying simply that you have got a block of land with 

an ODP of the sort that we had on the screen earlier to prevent the last 

man standing being required to develop at a density of 20 households 

per hectare or whatever it is that is leftover, how does your mechanism 

actually, I can see how it encourages people to co-operate, but if they 40 

do not, what mechanism does the Council have to say, “Hang on a 

minute”, we have got a whole lot of 13s spreading our way from, say, 

north to south, and the bit that is left is essentially undevelopable or 

may be undevelopable, or has imposed a whole lot of additional 

obligations on the last man standing. How do you get around that? 45 
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MS SEATON:   What I am suggesting is the use of this legal mechanism we 

are discussing would only be appropriate with the agreement of the last 

man standing, so-to-speak, or another landowner. It would not be 

appropriate to leave the last man standing with needing to achieve 18 

per hectare without that developer having had any say in the matter. I 5 

do not think that would be appropriate at all. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So if you are doing the first or second one that is only at 13, 

where do you start to draw the line in the sand of saying, “Well, we are 

not going to get to 15 by the end of it.” 10 

 

MS SEATON:   So for example, if we, looking at the ODP we have in front of 

us now, let us say there are four landowners in that ODP, 

hypothetically speaking. If Landowner one said, “Right, 13 per hectare 

is about what we should be achieving on this land. We are a long way 15 

away from any amenity, or any shops or anything. Let us go for 12 per 

hectare”, and Landowner three up in the other corner says, “Okay, I am 

close to some shops. I think we will take on a bit more.” Across those 

two landowners, between the two of them, I would envisage they 

would need to be achieving 15 per hectare, and the agreement for the 20 

transfer of density between them would be solely between those two 

allotments, it would not include any other landowners that has had no 

say in this matter. 

 

  [3.55 pm] 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But if landowner one says, “I just want to do 13, and I do 

not care what landowner three says”? 

 

MS SEATON:   Then the Council would decline it and it would be a non-30 

complying activity. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Is that in – where is – that is a helpful clarification, but 

where does the rule framework say that in your – how do you get to 

there in terms of what you drafted? 35 

 

MS SEATON:   That is a good question – so - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   I am not saying you have not, I am just trying to understand 

where it does. 40 

 

MS SEATON:   Yes, I understand. If you go to D2, it is convoluted, so a 

subdivision application that does not meet the minimum delivery of 15 

per hectare and details are supplied of alternative land uses where they 

can achieve it, so if you are not meeting 15 per hectare but you 45 
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showing somewhere else that it can be achieved then you are a 

discretionary activity under D2. 

 

 D2 does not permit you to send your density anywhere else, unless you 

already got the agreement, so if you go down to N - - -  5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   NC1. 

 

MS SEATON:   NC1, they are not a discretionary activity because they have 

sent it somewhere else. They are not restricted discretionary because 10 

they are not allowed to go below 15 per hectare and therefore they fall 

to be non-complying. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, no that is – thank you that is helpful, thank you. 

 15 

SJH:   More? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No that is all, sorry, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Anything, Ms Scott? 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Prebble? 

 25 

MR PREBBLE:   Yes, thank you, sir, I am just thinking as quickly as I can. 

 

SJH:   I will refrain to comment. 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR PREBBLE [3.56 pm] 30 

 

MR PREBBLE:   I have just one question, just following up from the quite 

long discussion about the 15 houses per hectare requirements in the 

CRPS, I guess my question following up from Dr Mitchell’s questions, 

even given your answers, is the situation where there is a mandatory 35 

requirement under the CRPS that the Replacement Plan must in terms 

of new zonings, achieve 15 houses per hectare? 

 

MS SEATON:   The district plan is required to be – is it consistent with the 

RPS? 40 

 

SJH:   Give effect to. 

 

MS SEATON:   Give effect to, thank you. 

 45 

MR PREBBLE:   And as a planner how do you interpret that? 
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MS SEATON:   It must achieve 15 per hectare over an ODP. 

 

MR PREBBLE:   So you say “it must” or “it must not” or “it may” or “it 

should” or “to the extent that it can it should”? 5 

 

MS SEATON:   I would say “must”/ 

 

MR PREBBLE:   Okay. All right, no questions. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you. Thank you, Ms Seaton, you may stand down. 

 

MS SEATON:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.58 pm] 15 

 

SJH:   Ms Silcock, we now come to Mr Rouse. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir. I now call Mr Rob Rouse. 

 20 

<ROBERT STANLEY ROUSE, affirmed [3.58 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SILCOCK [3.58 pm] 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Can you please confirm that your full name is Robert Stanley 

Rouse? 

 5 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And your statement of evidence dated 20 March 2015 is the 

second statement of evidence that you have prepared for the 

Christchurch Replacement District Plan hearings? 10 

 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And your first statement was dated 25 November 2014 and 

that was prepared for the Strategic Directions hearing? 15 

 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And that your qualifications and expertise are set out in 

paragraph 1.2 of your first statement of evidence and in your appendix? 20 

 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Can you confirm that both of your statements are true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge? 25 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes they are. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you. If you could provide a brief summary of your 

evidence and answer any questions from the Panel. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ROUSE:   Good afternoon. Yes, my evidence is focused on horizontal 

infrastructure as it relates to the residential proposal. 35 

 

 It is essential that horizontal infrastructure can meet the increased 

demand arising from intensification, redevelopment and development 

to support and maintain the momentum of recovery. I have read the 

evidence of Mr Norton and Ms O'Brien and the rebuttal evidence of Ms 40 

O'Brien and Mr Gregory as well as the relevant parts of the 26 March 

version of the residential proposal. The amendments I supported in my 

evidence are now addressed in the 26 March version of the proposal on 

the understanding that Policy 14.1.1.1 was not intended to be shown as 

deleted. 45 
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  [4.00 pm] 

 

 My summary will also briefly respond to points raised by Mr Norton 

and Mr Gregory. It is critically important that residential 

redevelopment growth utilises existing infrastructure and where 5 

required, new infrastructure effectively and efficiently. Integrating land 

use patterns and activities with infrastructure ensures that the Crown’s 

and Council’s significant investment in repairing and rebuilding 

damaged horizontal infrastructure will be best utilised. Some parts of 

the existing horizontal infrastructure networks from time to time, and 10 

for varying durations, may not be able to deliver the required and 

expected levels of service. Restoring network performance, 

serviceability and function provides a sound platform for residential 

redevelopment growth intensification and for greenfield development. 

 15 

 The Crown is seeking, through its submission, to avoid diffuse 

development and inefficient and ineffective provision of infrastructure 

and is seeking an integrated approach to land use and infrastructure 

provision, and this is consistent with objectives 3.3.7I and J, and 

3.3.12A in the Strategic Directions Decision.  20 

 

 Residential development of existing urban areas, redevelopment of 

existing urban areas such as brownfields sites is likely to have the least 

impact on existing horizontal infrastructure, provided that where there 

were no significant issues prior to the earthquakes, earthquake damage 25 

has been repaired, and redevelopment demand is not greater than the 

demand that existed prior to the earthquakes. 

 

 As I said earlier, I have read the rebuttal evidence of Mr Norton for the 

Council who discusses in paragraph 3.2 on storm water facilities or 30 

building techniques that reduce runoff and/or treat discharges. Mr 

Norton also suggests in paragraph 6.2 that provision of these facilities 

adds additional cost and complexity to a development project. In my 

opinion, there are significant opportunities to utilise these building 

techniques and low-impact systems in both brownfield and greenfield 35 

development, and I guess I would also suggest, in terms of 

intensification, although the opportunities are limited because of the 

smaller footprint, and their use should be supported. 

 

 The use of these systems may result in a development proceeding 40 

where it would not otherwise be able to because of infrastructure 

complaints.  

 

 Intensification. As with brownfield developments, infrastructure will 

already be in place, however new connections arising from 45 

intensification will have an immediate effect on the system. Residential 
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intensification is likely to take place over an extended period of time, 

potentially providing time to plan for and implement the renewal or 

upgrading of horizontal infrastructure to meet demand. 

 

 Greenfield development. Greenfield development typically has a high 5 

impact on existing horizontal infrastructure because of the larger 

number of lots, possibly larger lot sizes, and their location relative to 

existing horizontal infrastructure. Residential growth is likely to be 

over a larger development footprint, and access to horizontal 

infrastructure capacity will be required over a much shorter period of 10 

time compared to intensification. Consistent with Mr Gregory’s 

rebuttal evidence for the Council I agree that it is generally more 

expensive to provide infrastructure for greenfield areas than for 

intensification within the city. Thank you very much. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [4.04 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon, Mr Rouse. Not too many questions for you this 20 

afternoon. Paragraph 6.4 of your evidence that there is under the 

heading ‘existing horizontal infrastructure constraints.’ You note that 

no one in site-specific constraints should be considered when 

identifying areas for residential growth. Would you agree with me that 

the Council has taken those constraints into consideration in identifying 25 

areas for intensification? 

 

MR ROUSE:   I cannot answer that with certainty. At the end of the day it will 

be the City Council that determines what areas can be developed. What 

I would say is that it is not clear from my understanding in the evidence 30 

I have read and the information I have received, whether or not 

alternatives have been considered in terms of allowing intensification 

to take place where there may be capacity issues, and that may involve 

onsite type solutions. 

 35 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

 Also the rebuild is not complete; currently 928 million dollars’ worth 

of work has been completed and there is about nearly 500 million or 

400 million dollars’ worth of work remaining.  So the impact of that 40 

work on capacity within the network has yet to be determined. 

 

 So the full extent of what can and cannot be delivered through 

intensification perhaps will not be known until the rebuild is complete. 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you for that clarification.  Mr Rouse, I think it would a 

fair summary of your evidence that it is consistent with the Council’s 

approach that all residential development must be integrated with 

existing, and where necessary, new infrastructure, would you agree? 

 5 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So you support the Council’s approach in terms of integrated 

planning to this matter? 

 10 

MR ROUSE:   Obviously nobody wants development where there is 

insufficient capacity for infrastructure.  

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  I am just going to jump around your evidence 

a little bit.  Just paragraph 5.3 to start with, that paragraph is focussed 15 

on the repair and rehabilitation of horizontal pipelines.  In the last 

sentence of that paragraph, are you discussing the Crown’s rebuild 

work or are you talking more generally about the collective efforts of 

the Council, CERA and the New Zealand Transport Agency through 

the SCIRT alliance? 20 

 

MR ROUSE:   The collective effort of the three stakeholders and SCIRT.   

 

MS SCOTT:   In that last sentence states that, “horizontal infrastructure rebuild 

work also includes providing additional capacity where it is required”? 25 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, the city is primarily the driver for that work, so where they 

have identified a need I guess that has been incorporated in the rebuild 

work. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Paragraph 5.9, if we could just jump there.  You say that, “the 

repair work has been carried out to restore the level of service to that 

which existed before the 2010 earthquakes”; that is what you say there, 

is that right? 

 35 

MR ROUSE:   That is what we would be striving for.   

 

MS SCOTT:   And that evidence sits well with the purpose of the SCIRT 

alliance, which is to repair and restore the earthquake damage to the 

horizontal infrastructure, specifically underground pipes and roads, do 40 

you agree? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Sorry, I can’t connect the two, could you repeat that? 
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MS SCOTT:   So the first sentence that I referred you to, which is paragraph 

5.9 you say there that; “the repair work has been carried out to restore 

the level of service to that which existed before the 2010 earthquakes”? 

 

MR ROUSE:   As far as possible, yes, that is correct. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that sits well with the scope of SCIRT’s recovery work, 

which is to return the infrastructure networks to a condition that meets 

the level of services prior to the 4 September 2010 earthquake. 

 10 

MR ROUSE:   On paper it does, yes, that is correct.  

 

MS SCOTT:   So restoring capacity to September 2010 levels doesn’t 

specifically provide additional capacity to support further 

developments such as residential intensification, does it? 15 

 

MR ROUSE:   No, additional capacity would be providing a whole new service 

that existed pre-earthquake in 2010.  

 

MS SCOTT:   Yet in 5.10 you say that “restoring network performance service 20 

ability and functionality provides a sound platform for residential 

development growth and for greenfield development”.  Would you 

agree that restoring the network would only provide a sound platform 

for the types of growth you identify if the work produced additional 

capacity to accommodate growth? 25 

 

MR ROUSE:   No, the focus of the rebuild moved from repairing damage to 

restoring or providing network performance service ability and 

functionality, and we moved away from repairing damage that was 

adding no value to the rebuild or to the network. 30 

 

 So we would say that changing that focus will deliver a better outcome 

for the network.  It is very difficult to determine what that is until the 

rebuild is complete.  Were we to continue repairing damage as we were 

previously, we would be worse off from a capacity point of view. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  I have no further questions, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you Mr Rouse. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 

  [4.10 pm] 45 
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MR SAX:   Yes, good afternoon, Mr Rouse, just a couple of questions you 

might be able to help me with thank you, leaving the size so dealing 

purely with infrastructure, I understood you to say that obviously where 

there is infrastructure capacity that should be a key focus of trying to 

get good utilisation where there is a capacity. 5 

 

 So for example we have heard earlier of densification of let us say 15 

houses per hectare, which is 666 square metres per dwelling, we 

understand the country, there is numerous examples of 190 square 

metres per dwelling which is 52 houses per hectare. 10 

 

 So from an infrastructure point of view I assumed you are heavily 

encourage to utilisation of significantly increased density where 

infrastructure capabilities are already there? 

 15 

MR ROUSE:   That is correct. 

 

MR SAX:   I would like to take you to “justification” and perhaps using storm 

water as an example, the issue with storm water where there are 

numerous options and you have talked briefly about “best options” and 20 

hence “cost benefit”, storm water in many parts of Christchurch, 

particularly in the T1 land, is a fantastic aquifer, good shingle depths 

and easy discharge to that aquifer, so in terms of Greenfields, you 

would heavily favour maximising the use of those sort of strategies 

rather than perhaps storm water or taking it to another area through 25 

public reticulations? 

 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, I certainly – in my opinion, I think that onsite or within a 

development approach to storm water treatment and disposal is 

acceptable, that would be a decision for the developer to make, if it was 30 

more cost affected to do that, than to connect into existing 

infrastructure, particularly if that existing infrastructure needed to be 

upgraded at the cost of the developer. 

 

 But certainly I would, yes, based on my experience, support onsite 35 

treatment and disposal of storm water. 

 

MR SAX:   I have a question for you on “cost justification” re: methods of 

attenuation or discharge to aquifers, on the basis of Christchurch City’s 

present methodology, if it is to be discharged to aquifer, just take these 40 

figures is accepted from my experience, it would range between 8 

billion and 22 billion to discharge to aquifer. 

 

 Have you got any experience at all in your knowledge where anyone in 

New Zealand has actually done a cost benefit analysis to what this costs 45 
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the community to adopt the regimes of storm water treatment 

attenuation to justify the regimes or strategies presently used? 

 

MR ROUSE:   I am sorry that is perhaps outside my area of knowledge.  I do 

not believe I can answer that question I am sorry. 5 

 

MR SAX:   Are you aware of anyone that could perhaps help us on that? 

 

MR ROUSE:   To be honest no I do not, I am sorry. 

 10 

MR SAX:   In terms of ‘efficient’ and ‘effective’; we have talked about storm 

water, what about sanitary sewer, so waste processing on sites of 

greenfield sites, brownfield sites, have you had any experience there 

that you could help us with? 

 15 

MR ROUSE:   I have experience on small community wastewater supplies and 

so on.  There are difficulties associated with standalone treatment 

plants, typically a Council Local Authority would go through the 

consenting process for that and they would be run as a community 

supply and so on.  I am sure that a small community for large 20 

developments, small community type wastewater treatment disposal 

systems would be suitable. 

 

 But in general those facilities are vested back in Council and there may 

be some reluctance for the Council to take on that responsibility, and 25 

again I guess that would be a discussion between the developer and the 

Council in terms of, if it was make or break for the development, in 

other words the development could not go ahead because of wastewater 

constraints, then that maybe an option that the developer could raise 

with the Council. 30 

 

 But again it would be over to the Council to decide how it would deal 

with that, but it may be technically feasible - - -  

 

MR SAX:   Right. 35 

 

MR ROUSE:   - - - to do that. 

 

MR SAX:   There is a lot of talk often on sustainability, efficient use of assets, 

of recycling, rain gardens, reuse, water harvesting, et cetera, have you 40 

seen good examples of that being practice here or has it just been talked 

about? 

 

MR ROUSE:   We are not seeing any examples of it through the rebuild, but 

some of the things that you talk about are opportunities that developers 45 

could use to mitigate their impact on existing infrastructure, 
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particularly around storm water.  With onsite disposal you talked about 

the larger development or the collection of rainwater on a smaller site 

which could be used for irrigation during the hot summer months 

which is a double benefit of reducing the demand during the high 

demand period of water supplies which are generally in the summer 5 

months and arises from irrigation. 
 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

 The question for you – you might not be able to help me with this one, 10 

I am just not sure if you are familiar with the proposed Plan.  But do 

you have ideas or thoughts of policies or things that could be embedded 

in the Plan that more proactively and positively encourage those sorts 

of outcomes, because, I understand so often, there is a thinking that is 

quite restrictive to the sorts of suggestions you have had?  15 

 

MR ROUSE:   It is probably better for the planners to come up with the 

wording around that, but I guess from a sort of a technical sense, I 

believe that there are potentially opportunities to mitigate impact on 

existing infrastructure.  There will be times where development cannot 20 

go ahead because there just is not any capacity or there are dry weather 

overflows, all that sort of thing, but the planners are probably better 

placed in terms of coming up with the policies and wording associated 

with what may be possible without incorporating in the Plan. 

 25 

MR SAX:   You touched on, made the comment that perhaps developers, cost 

benefits et cetera, would determine perhaps best solutions. 

 

 These are quite complex technical issues for I think everyone involved 

often, so would you favour a more liberal approach bearing in mind 30 

infrastructure has to be in place for a building consent to be issued, 

assume that is the case, so if there is a more liberal planning regime 

that allowed the best areas to be chosen with infrastructure being one 

key ingredient to be considered. 

 35 

 Is that something you would favour? 

 

MR ROUSE:   I think it would be helpful if the document was enabling as far 

as possible, and allowed a range of opportunities to develop 

intensification or greenfields development to promote those ideas and 40 

for the Council to consider those with an open mind. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Judge. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon Mr Rouse, just two quick 5 

matters.  You were asked some questions by Ms Scott about the 

collaborative approach being taken between the various agencies to 

increase capacity as part of a SCIRT process. 

 

 Do you have an indication for us of what percentage of the upgrade 10 

work is included in that category? 

 

MR ROUSE:   The work that I have been involved with, I would have to say – 

directly involved with – is not very much. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   And is that because of limitations on Council funding 

primarily or is there another reason?  

 

MR ROUSE:   To be honest I do not know, I guess I have assumed that the 

City Council had staff imbedded in SCIRT working alongside the 20 

SCIRT designers because they are the asset owner, so they would have 

a slightly different view or involvement in the rebuild than say, CERA 

has, because CERA is primarily there to provide assurance and 

funding, although we would be drawn into other work. 

 25 

 So we have assumed that, as part of that project development work, the 

additional capacity required to deal with development, would have 

been incorporated during the concept design development and then the 

detailed design development by SCIRT.  

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  And the second question is, you say at 

paragraph 5.9 and you were asked questions about this too by Ms Scott, 

about returning the level of service of the horizontal infrastructure to 

that existed pre earthquake. 

 35 

 What was the level of service of the wastewater network prior to the 

earthquake in your understanding? 

 

MR ROUSE:   I am sorry, I cannot – I do not know the answer to that.  What I 

am saying there is that, or endeavouring to say, is that we want to have 40 

a serviceable and functional network that it was at least as good as it 

was before the earthquake, and we aren’t repairing all these, but 

currently all people have service. 

 

 I understand there are still some issues with the wastewater network, 45 

but as I pointed out, there is still significant work yet to be done, yet we 
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are tracking back to quite a, you know, towards things like flows and 

that, that existed prior to the earthquake in 2010. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Even if those flows, with putting the network under 

considerable pressure, which is the evidence that we have heard from 5 

the Council witnesses about the problem areas in certain parts of the 

wastewater network? 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 10 

MR ROUSE:   Yes, the Crown’s role in the rebuild is to provide funding and 

support the asset owners going forward.  It is my opinion that the 

approach that we are taking now will deliver better rebuild outcome 

than the approach that was taken two years ago. 

 15 

 Had we not changed the approach to the rebuild, it is likely that the 

network would potentially have been worse off than it was before the 

earthquake, because significant parts of the networks would have 

remained unrepaired, which would have exposed the Council to 

increased off-peaks, higher pressure on their cyclic renewals, and 20 

would have continued some of the issues around infiltration, which are 

causing some of the capacity issues. 

 

 The approach that we are taking is to focus on defects that are 

impacting on the performance of the network, that is structural defects 25 

and also infiltration, which is impacting on capacity.  So that capacity 

component, you know, that reducing damage that is resulting in 

infiltration, is a significant priority for the rebuild. 

 

 We also take account of the asset’s location; is it a main line versus a 30 

pipe in a cul de sac, if you appreciate that.  I am not trying to diminish 

the importance of a pipe in a cul de sac, but then there is a higher level 

of attention and effort applied to mains to try and make sure that we get 

the best benefit for the rebuild from the money that we have got 

available.  I am not sure that has answered your question. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, that is helpful, thank you.  And just to be clear, the 

funding for that is being met by the Crown primarily?  Have I 

understood that correctly? 

 40 

MR ROUSE:   The Crown has committed 1.8 billion to the three waters and 

roading, about 960 for the three waters, 635 or thereabouts for land 

transport.  There was about 205 for response, and the Council is 

committing 1.14 billion. 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you. 
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MR ROUSE:   So there is a significant investment that obviously, I understand, 

the City and the Crown would like to see utilised going forward. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you sir, no further questions. 5 

 

SJH:   Mr Rouse, the original agreement between CERA and the Council was, I 

take it, that SCIRT would repair the damaged infrastructure, 

underground infrastructure. 

 10 

MR ROUSE:   In a nutshell, yes. 

 

SJH:   And that changed to an agreement that it would restore the pre-

earthquake capacity, by and large? 

 15 

MR ROUSE:   I think the term that was used was, ‘pre-earthquake condition’, 

rather than ‘capacity’. 

 

SJH:   Now, Dr Mitchell has referred to this and I am following on from his 

questioning; we heard from Ms Obrien that at the time of the 20 

earthquake, immediately prior to the earthquake, the system was 

operating at or over capacity.  We also had heard that most of the 

constraints seemed to be in areas where there is a large level of social 

housing, particularly Housing Corporation stock. 

 25 

 Would it be fair to say that the lack foresight by the Council in 

planning and repairing and upgrading and maintaining its wastewater 

stock prior to the earthquake has contributed to where we are at today, 

in your opinion? 

 30 

MR ROUSE:   I think the infrastructure prior to the earthquakes perhaps was 

not in as good a condition as we would have liked it to have been in.  I 

think the earthquake caused significant damage.  It is hard to say 

whether or not the City, if the City had done more work before the 

earthquake whether or not the damage would have been less.  35 

Generally, modern materials are a lot more resilient, so there could 

have been some benefit. 

 

 I guess, to be fair, the damage may well have been similar apart from 

any resilient materials that we used prior to the earthquake.  I don’t the 40 

lack of intervention - - -  

 

SJH Can I put it in a different way then; Is it good planning for horizontal 

infrastructure to have it operating at or over capacity, as a general? 

 45 

  [4.25 pm] 
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MR ROUSE:   It is not good. 

 

SJH:   As a general. 

 5 

MR ROUSE:   It is not good but it is not unusual. 

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Rouse, you may stand down. 

 

MR ROUSE:   Thank you. 

 15 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.25 pm] 

 

SJH:   Mr Miles?  So, Mr Miles, you are giving evidence on your own behalf 

and on the behalf of the Canterbury/Westland Branch of the ADNZ? 

 20 

MR MILES:   Correct. 

 

SJH:   And you wish to give evidence? 

 

MR MILES:  No, it was really just to speak to the submissions that we have 25 

made. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott, how can we have cross-examination if it is just a submission? 

 

MS SCOTT:   I have no cross-examination if it is not evidence, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   All right, okay.  Well, just take a seat then, Mr Miles.  We have read 

your submission so it is your opportunity now to highlight and give a 

highlights package, if you like of your statement. 

 35 

<GRANT MILES [4.26 pm] 
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MR MILES:   Certainly.  This is in general referring to the residential suburban 

zones and the as built rules.  The first one we would like to reinforce is 

that we feel that the 5 percent bonus of site coverage allowing us to go 

from 35 percent to 40 percent for when constructing single storey 

domestic dwellings that that should be held onto.   5 

 

 In many subdivisions now, obviously with the intensity, we are trying 

to keep the lot sizes down, and if we took the example of a 500 square 

metre site at 40 percent, we can build a 200 square metre home which 

could be a good average.  There is an obvious cost increase to drop that 10 

back to 35 percent, 175 square metres, that is then putting a lot of 

people having to create two storey dwellings when we do feel that the 

40 percent at a time when we are perhaps trying to lessen urban sprawl 

should still remain and we just really like to reinforce that. 

 15 

 The minimum building setbacks from internal boundaries, the new one 

metre rule is one that we can understand but as we have interpreted the 

rules at the moment there would be a possibility I think of that applying 

to two boundaries and we would support a limitation of that to one 

internal boundary. 20 

 

 We also support the minimum setback distance to living area windows 

and balconies and support that remaining at that the three metres.   

 

 Road boundary building setback, we do feel that this is overly 25 

complicated with single garages being either parallel to the street 

frontage or direct access.  I am not sure of what is trying to be achieved 

there, indeed really a simple rule about having a garage two metres off 

a street boundary so that a landscaping yard and screening can be 

provided I would think should suffice. 30 

 

 The street scene amenity and safety fences, garaging and landscape, we 

do feel that the fencing rules, especially in a living 1 zone, we do not 

understand really the need for that in that a typical subdivision, when 

you drive through many parts of Christchurch and the fences are of a 35 

great variety, screening, high, low, landscaped, un-landscaped, and all 

this depends on the orientation of those street yards, whether they be on 

the south side, north, east, west, and people use those in different 

manners. 

 40 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

 Also the – we think there is a problem with the mechanics of the rule, 

in that, at the time of applying for a building consent, we are not 

required to show anything about fencing, so a building can be built, 45 

people can occupy, a subsequent owner two years down the track could 
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come in and decide to build a fence as their Sunday project. They 

would be unaware, that indeed they should be applying for a resource 

consent. 

 

 Yes, and the other aspect of the rule, the way it is written, 50 percent 5 

transparency, you know, does black shay cloth actually work for 50 

percent transparency? At the end of the day a rule like that is going to 

be interpreted by a Council Officer in the literal sense, so that we in 

effect going to measuring the actual gap between the timber baton 

fence with brick columns, I just do not think that that is intended. 10 

 

 And the other matter was the life stage inclusive in adaptive design for 

new residential units, and we support the removal of those conditions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much, I will just see if the Panel has any questions. 15 

 

MR MILES:   Sure. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   No I do not, but thank you very much, Mr Miles, for your 

submissions. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 25 

MR SAX:   No questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, thanks Mr Miles, just as a matter of 30 

interest, you have been in practice for a long time, you are motivated to 

make a submission, and I just wondered in your practice you would not 

have a component of elderly clients? 

 

MR MILES:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you able to comment on whether or not they have a 

particular preference for a type of dwelling whether it would be single 

level or do not for their retirement years? 

 40 

MR MILES:   Generally it would be single level. It is an unusual aspect of 

design and life if you like, in that, many a client at some stage when 

building a new home may wish to make or have bathrooms that are 

wheelchair accessible, easy use. Indeed, when you follow up and deal 

with a client perhaps later in life, you find that life’s health issues have 45 

been such that in actual fact they have not been able to gain the full 
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benefit of that any way, so that there are - a certain amount of instances 

you are actually designing and providing for things on the chance that 

they may happen, and a lot of people go to expense for that and quite 

often it is not a concern. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well thanks very much. 

 

MR MILES:   That is all right. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I had no questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Miles, you may stand down. 

 15 

MR MILES:   Thank you. 

 

  [4.35 pm] 

 

<GRANT MILES WITHDREW [4.35 pm] 20 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Bonis, please, it has been a couple of days so he should be re-

sworn please. 

 

<MATTHEW WILLIAM BONIS, affirmed [4.35 pm] 25 
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SJH:   Mr Cleary? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [4.35 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir, your Honour and members of the Panel.  Good 5 

afternoon Mr Bonis. 

 

MR BONIS:   Good afternoon, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And Mr Bonis you were here on Tuesday when I asked 10 

Mr Day some questions about the accuracy of protection from the old 

contours? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes I was. 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   Do you recall him agreeing and accepting that those 

projections were grossly inaccurate? 

 

MR BONIS:   This is in terms of? 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   The old contours. 

 

MR BONIS:   The old contours, rather than the flights numbers, sorry, sir? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, projection, those were aircraft numbers. 25 

 

MR BONIS:   He indicated that there was a fall off towards 2013 but that he 

was of the understanding that an increase for 2014. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 30 

 

MR BONIS:   Effectively it was fluctuating. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Did you recall him accepting that the projections for the old 

contours was grossly inaccurate? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   I think he referred to the revised contours rather than the old 

contours, but yes, I take your point, that effectively based on the 

forecast that they have used that at the time. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   And there is a risk that the new contours, the projections 

might be wrong as well? 

 

MR BONIS:   I think there was agreement that reconsidering what the contours 

would be in light of the projections would be useful. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   And in terms of your table of costs and benefits, or benefits 

and costs on page 31 of your evidence – I am just wondering Mr Bonis, 

does it concern you at all that the opportunity costs incurred by 

members of the community who cannot develop their properties, 

maybe costs unnecessarily borne, if the contours are wrong? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   That would stand to reason effectively, if they are too wide from 

what they actually should be and changed, then there would be the 

imposition of regulation on areas that was unnecessary and 

inappropriate. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   And would you also accept that the benefits, it is a corollary, 

that the benefits for the Airport might be overstated, it seems that - - -? 

 

MR BONIS:  Yes, that would be the corollary of that. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   And one of the benefits listed is the integrity and certainty of 

the contour, 50dBA contour? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Do you accept that that is a real issue? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, very much. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   Because Mr Blair, when I cross-examined him last week, he 

said that the 65 and 55 contours would be part of stage two, and I asked 

him if he accepted that if the 65 and 55 are wrong, then intuitively, the 

50 must be wrong; are you able to agree with that statement? 

 30 

MR BONIS:   My understanding is that they were modelled as a package so 

they would have to be, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you refer in a number of places in your evidence about 

significant amenity effect, adverse amenity effects from airport noise, 35 

that is correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And Mr Day does not actually refer to significant adverse 40 

amenity effects in his evidence, does he? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, he refers to the top band of his questionnaire table as to 

highly annoyed. 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 
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MR BONIS:   And I have correlated that to significant. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And what do you mean by amenity? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   The ability for a resident to enjoy where they are to a certain 

level of comfort. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Could I suggest perhaps for freedom from unreasonable 

noise? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   That would be part of it, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And Mr Day said in answer to my questions that no ambient 

background level testing had been done? 15 

 

MR BONIS:   That is my understanding of what he said as well. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And just in terms of the risk to the Airport and to the extent 

that any such risk might exist, have you actually given any thought to a 20 

sort of a regulatory response that would completely avoid that?  

 

MR BONIS:   Do you mean other mechanisms? 

 

  [4.40 pm] 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, like for example Mr Purves evidence regarding the 

Lyttelton Port Company, the suite of rules about avoiding complaints. 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of the management regime they have in relation to that? 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, correct.  Have you given any thought to whether or not 

that might be applicable in the context of intensification within the 

contours? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   No, I have not, I have just gone with the statutory, as I have 

indicated in my opening stanza on Tuesday, that is my baseline – the 50 

dBA within the RPS and the policy and objectives around that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, so just a matter of policy interpretation and you have not 40 

taken it any further? 

 

MR BONIS:   No.   

 

MR CLEARY:   That is okay.  And just your local examples of the reverse 45 

sensitivity effects, I think they are at the bottom of page 15 of your 



 Page 961 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

evidence, and firstly you refer to Ruapuna.  And as I understand from 

one of your appendices, that issue there was related to exposure of 

levels of noise of 60 dBA for visitors?  

 

MR BONIS:   There were two components to it, as indicated in that 5 

attachment.  In terms of the offer by the Council to purchase those 

properties, they were properties within the 60 dBA contour.  There was 

also the second requirement which led to variation 52, which was to 

look at restricting sensitive activities between the 55 and 60 dBA 

contour.   10 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you.  And the second example you give that is 

regarding plan change 16 of the REPA designation, would you not 

accept that the key issue for landowners affected by that designation, 

was effectively that their rights will be stripped away – no, sorry, by 15 

that plan change, their rights have been stripped away by the plan 

change without any compensation from the airport? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, the response – I was involved with that one, the response far 

outweighed that there was the issue of the regulation through PC16 on 20 

individual properties, and the number of properties from memory was 

sort of 20/30.  But there were a substantial, as I have indicated 227 

submissions that were received, a lot of those – well clearly a lot of 

those were well outside areas actually impacted by where that 

regulation would apply.  And as I have indicated, a number of them 25 

related to issues around noise rather than the actual regulation itself. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But my question was the key issue was the removal of rights, 

that is correct isn’t it? 

 30 

MR BONIS:   I thought you tied it in with the response that was had.  So the 

response that we had was in two parts, there was obviously those 

parties’ that were concerned about the regulation on their rights, but 

there were a substantial number of submissions from parties that were 

not affected by that regulation, raising issues of noise. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  And that matter has been before the Panel more 

recently, are you familiar with it? 

 

MR BONIS:   Only in so far as the area to the south of Russley Road in terms 40 

of the designation response, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And that was about removal of property rights? 

 

MR BONIS:   It was the ability for the airport to be able to designate that area 45 

as a requirement authority and how that worked through the process. 
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MR CLEARY:   All right.  And the last one, Lyttelton Port Company, has the 

resource consent application, and isn’t it actually a feature of resource 

consent applications for an applicant that is making noise, shall we say, 

or creating noise, isn’t it a feature that a responsible applicant would 5 

actually offer to include mitigation measures? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, the issue in relation to that particular one was, even after 

looking at mitigating noise to relative levels, this decider joins (ph 

4.32) sort of a quirk of the District Plan.  It is mainly within the 10 

business 5, which is the heavy industrial zones, and part of the site was 

in the business 4 zones, which is the light industrial zones, and the 

more sensitive noise regime applies.  Immediately adjoining the site 

itself were, what I should perhaps euphemistically describe as “live-

work units” but my understanding is they were basically “live-live 15 

units” there was not a lot of – like they were not there for managerial or 

custodial purposes, which was the rule in the plan for why they were 

established. 

 

  [4.45 pm] 20 

 

 So the issue that we had was there was some minor exceedance of 

noise but the level of amenity expectation from effectively the families 

that occupied those live/work units was - - - 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   Was oversight?  

 

MR BONIS:   Was well in excess of effectively the outcomes of the zone. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, all right.  Just one final question and it is a technical 30 

one.  If I can take you to attachment A, page 44, and it is regarding area 

P, permitted 2, it is travellers accommodation, and you have said that 

these should not be located within the air noise contour.  Correct me if I 

am wrong, Mr Bonis, but my understanding is that travellers’ 

accommodation is only categorised as a noise sensitive activity if it is 35 

actually not designed to mitigate potential noise effects? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, that is true and I think I have referred to that somewhere 

else and indicated that that could be a better way of dealing with it but, 

yes, no, you are quite correct. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   So you could actually clarify that - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   Unless every habitable room is acoustically attenuated. 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   That is all the questions I have. 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Bonis. 

 5 

MR BONIS:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   First I want to ask you a couple of brief questions about the 

bird strike management. I want to be clear what it is you are 

suggesting, you talked to us about your position and it might be my age 10 

but you talk quite fast sometimes and I am not sure I gathered what it 

was you were suggesting about the various aspects that initially the 

submission from CIAL was suggesting should be controlled. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and I will try and be as succinct as possible.  My 15 

recommendation is simply that I think it is RD3 which is the restriction 

around ponding be deleted.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So RD3 is not just around ponding, is it? 

 20 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, RD3, so that is page 33 of 230 of the revised proposal. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, I am looking at your attachment to your evidence. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I have moved on from that, it was an illuminating afternoon 25 

and my recommendation in my evidence as a whole indicated that the 

best time to look at this issue is in one suite of provisions in the general 

city provisions which I understand are part of stage 2.  That was my 

primary recommendation in this evidence.   

 30 

 I also indicated that there was a range of land use activities 

recommended by Mr McAnergney and Dr Harper that I had significant 

issues with. And I indicated that, I stated that my overall 

recommendation is that RD3 be deleted within this proposal. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Yes, so none of the aspects that you talked to us 

about, I think you talked about permitted activities potentially, all that 

you are recommending be put off to general rules that - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   It all falls away and if I am involved in that stage I will come 40 

back and indicate a series of permitted activity statuses for storm water 

ponding that perhaps has a bit more clarity. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, but for now you are recommending that at the 

moment? 45 
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MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you have a recommended definition of bird strike 

activity and my question is, is that necessary that a definition of bird 

strike activity at the moment given what would be left in the plan for 5 

stage 1? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, that could be removed as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is not needed at the moment? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   It is not needed at the moment. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  All right, so now I will just look at the 

noise aspects.  I think you answered some questions from Ms Scott 15 

about this.  Did you say that you have not done any assessment of the 

number of people that live within the 50, 55 et cetera contours from the 

airport at the moment? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is correct, I have not. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So have you done any assessment of the additional number of 

people that could be located in those areas under the rules under the 

current Operative Plan through subdivision or other land uses that 

could go ahead as of right? 25 

 

  [4.50 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I have not. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   So you do not know what the cumulative number could be in 

the current plan? 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   But you had done some assessment of the additional people 

through the additional LURP rules, if they were continued over and 

allowed to continue in the, “indefinite” we say, under the Replacement 

Plan? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   My attachment C takes the proposed district plan provisions and 

it is nothing more than a scenario, and indicates with that level of 

intensification what the number of parties could be under the 50dBA 

contour. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So you have looked at the minor residential, “minor 

dwelling” I think it is called provision, and I think you accepted in 

some questioning that you have used just the one percent take up per 

annum, and that if Mr Fairgray’s numbers what happened would be less 

than what you had calculated? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I might have been a bit unclear about that.  The one percent 

only relates to the multiple units, that is the only figure that I have 

given which is the 183 highly annoyed. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So that is only for the multiple units? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is only for the multiple units which I consider is worst case 

scenario, and I have identified quite clearly that they are not, either 

most parties would either be a minor dwelling or a multiple unit, so you 15 

cannot double count them.  So I have taken what I would consider to be 

“worst case scenario” which is the multiple units - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Just the multiple units? 

 20 

MR BONIS:   - - - and I have applied a one percent which I admit is assumed, 

it is not based on any factual background. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I think Mr Fairgray he has used a number of half a 

percent for example for, I think what he calls “normal intensification”, 25 

it could be multiple units I think is what he is – so it could be less, what 

you say it could be less than the one percent? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it could.  My understanding from Mr Fairgray’s 

percentages was, that it was based on historic take-up rates of 30 

effectively what were a family of flats and elderly persons housing, and 

he has indicated that, if you carry that forward. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, he has also done the same I think for multiple units or 

intensification. 35 

 

 So, when you say that the number of additional people, are what 180-

something I think, is a material and potentially a material adverse effect 

on, it could result in material adverse effect on airport operations, you 

have not got any baseline number of people in there to compare that 40 

with, whether we are talking about, in addition to 20,000 people that 

could be there as of right, or 10,000, or whatever number? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I would accept that. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you do not – yes. 
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MR BONIS:   I can’t give you a base - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Baseline number - - -  

 5 

MR BONIS:   - - - from proportionately - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - from which - - -  

 

MR BONIS:   - - - what that number is big or small. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right.  So do you think there is any difference in terms of the 

‘risk’ of potential effects to airport operations of intensification within 

an established residential area, whether already however many 

unknown number of people living and more to come as of right, where 15 

all this is established and you have got some more people coming in, 

versus say a new residential area coming close to the airport. 

 

 Is there any – do you think there is any different risk in terms of 

potential for adverse effect on airport operations, in reality? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   I could not answer the question in terms of risk.  In terms of 

effects, all I could indicate is that from what I have understood from Mr 

Day, they are about the same.  I do not have a grasp of what the 

increased risk would be in terms of the level of complaint that might be 25 

received. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So – well let us not use the word “risk” – just talk about the 

“potential” for a “reaction” from people that could actually lead to an 

effect on airport operations, from some people coming into an 30 

established area where everyone’s all living there and they can see their 

neighbours are just living there, versus a new area coming closest to the 

airport say within those contours, is there any difference or do you not 

think there is any difference? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   I do not think that there would be any level of difference because 

it is – if you are new to that noise environment and your level of 

expectation as to what that noise environment should be, I do not know 

that that would change or it is that obvious compared to an intensified 

area in a greenfield area, you are still subject to the same level of noise, 40 

and if your expectation was that, was different from that, I think you 

would still experience that amenity effect. 

 

  [4.55 pm] 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Do you have anything to base that on, your assessment? 
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MR BONIS:   No, no, just simply Mr Day indicating that, you know, the 

effects, he thought they would be effectively the same. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, so just a couple more sort of housekeeping questions.   5 

 

 I just need to understand the status sought by the Airport for the 

intensification activities within the 50dBA.  Your attachment A writes 

for lots of different activities, that they shall not be located within the 

50dBA.  What rule or what status is the Airport seeking if those people 10 

came along and wished to be located within the 50dBA? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have put them within the existing Council structure and I 

understand that they would revert to non-complying activity status. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Through the general rule, it says, if you are not permitted or 

whatever, you just - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   You become non-complying. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   - - - become non-complying.  Right, thank you. 

 

 And then NC-9 which is this rule about acoustic insulation, that is 

sought to be applied within the 50dBA contour – 55 I mean.   Cn you 

just tell me how that rule, if you could look at it, and tell me how it 25 

works. 

 

 If this rule is saying that any residential unit even if it is insulated to 

achieve the required indoor noise, is a non-complying activity, or is it a 

non-complying activity that does - - - 30 

 

MR BONIS:   It is non-complying activity if it breaches that rule, that is 

effectively cut and paste from the current operative Plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but it is structured differently, is it not, in terms of its 35 

layout? 

 

MR BONIS:   Possibly, I have probably tried to shoehorn it into the Council’s 

structure. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   So you are saying it would be a non-complying activity 

inside the 55 dBA, but if it isn’t - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, so the corollary of that could be that it could be moved to a 

permitted, and if you comply then you are fine, you carry on and then 45 

you revert to non-complying once - - - 
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MS DAWSON:   So any residential unit that does not meet this standard, 

would be now non-complying? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, thank you very much. 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you, I appreciate it. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   That is all the questions from me, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, good afternoon Mr Bonis.  I have got some just general 15 

questions, not too specific, just to help me with my understanding.   

 

 I firstly understood you to say in terms of planning, good plans around 

what is needed to what is economic and so on.  I am just trying to 

grapple with the concepts of billions of dollars of property being 20 

affected by a lot of these rules, and really a token spent by the Airport 

on the management – and they will not go into any questions on bird 

strikes as a potential problem – and the noise in bird strike, but we got a 

figure, I think someone said about 192 billion was contributed about 

nine percent of the Christchurch gross GDP.  So that is less than point 25 

0.5 percent is applied. 

 

 I am just wondering how we take this seriously when the Board, the 

company in its operations do not seem to take these things very 

seriously, of what they are spending.  There seems to be a huge 30 

mismatch to me as a lay person on the subject; what is your reaction 

from a planning point of view as to how we should take this seriously?   

 

MR BONIS:  All I can suggest, sir, is that I have been involved with issues for 

probably the last five years, and there is a consistent response in terms 35 

of noise sensitive activities over that time, and the firm has been 

involved beyond that and I understand that other parties have been 

involved beyond that, and there is a level, I guess, of consistent debate, 

litigation and expense that has gone into this issue for a large number 

of years from what I understand. 40 

 

 I do not know if proportionately linking that back to the amount of the 

budget of the Airport is perhaps a fair representation of that.  All I can 

suggest, sir, in my own experience is the issues are taken seriously, 

especially around sort of consistency and upholding the integrity of 45 

those contours and constant application in terms of defending it. 
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MR SAX:   Coming back from to a planning point of view of what you say of,  

“What is needed?” I am just struggling a little with, and I know you are 

not a noise expert, I am not asking you questions about that, but I want 

to go back to the 55 decibel and the 50 decibel contour. 5 

 

 So Mr Day, in his professional evidence is saying there is very little 

difference between the 50 and 55.  In fact, I think he said outside, 

between 50 and 54 it might be just noticeable. 

 10 

  [5.00 pm] 

 

 So if that is the case, and under 34.3 “shall not be located within the 

noise contour 50 decibel”, if a professional is telling me that there is 

almost no difference, it is almost non-detectable, why even have it, 15 

should it be scrapped? 

 

MR BONIS:   Well I think that is a wider issue, sir, than I can give evidence 

on, all I can do is say that the statutory context uses the 50 dBA contour 

to just sort of delineate that line between, or the appropriateness of 20 

noise sensitive activities in the RPS, and that is why I am here 

providing planning evidence. 

 

 I don’t see any evidence in front of me – if the Panel has an issue in 

terms of whether or not there is even a place to look at these matters, I 25 

have made that relatively clear.  If they get over that hurdle and there is 

the issue around costs and benefits as to whether or not the regulation 

that I am recommending is even appropriate. 

 

 But I don’t know that there is sufficient evidence in front of the Panel 30 

to actually determine whether the 55 or the 50 is the most appropriate 

construct within that argument, I am not sure that that evidence is there. 

 

MR SAX:   So just on what you have heard from the professionals, I 

understand the statute, would it your personal view that probably that 35 

contour line should be scrapped? 

 

MR BONIS:   The 50 dBA? 

 

MR SAX:   Yes. 40 

 

MR BONIS:   No, my understanding from Mr Day is that it is at the bottom 

level, but it’s appropriate in the Christchurch context from what he has 

put forward.  He has indicated that there are amenity issues and parties 

that are highly annoyed, it certainly drops down to a lower level.  But 45 

he has indicated that is a real effect as far as he is concerned. 
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 From my point of view, there is an integrity issue.  If we look at 

moving away from the 50 to the 55 as being the more appropriate 

construct around noise sensitive activities for residential, and that 

distinction is not made within the RPS, there is a real issue as to the 5 

integrity of that for the other matters that will be in front of the Panel 

around rural, around the commercial and industrial zones that come 

later. 

 

 We start to unpack, I guess the statutory base in the higher order 10 

document in terms of our application for it, and I am not sure we need 

to necessarily go there.  As I have indicated there is sort of a two-step 

process from what I can see, and one is “is there actually a policy place 

to consider the matters that I am putting in front of the Panel” or does 

policy 6.3.5 simply say that’s it, “if you come in, no other management 15 

is actually necessary”. 

 

 If the Panel agrees with me that actually some management is 

appropriate, there is the issue of costs and benefits, as to is the 

regulation that I am recommending appropriate, is it efficient, is it 20 

effective?  And if that falls away we end up effectively – the Council’s 

position in terms of where they are at. 

 

 But I have some hesitation as to picking apart the 55 and the 50, 

because I think there is wider consequences in terms of that. 25 

 

 Sorry, I’ve got to your question in the round, and I apologise, but I am 

trying to unpick it in my own mind as I go. 

 

SJH:   That’s helpful.  Mr Day also made the comment in terms of complaints, 30 

that there were many complaints in Auckland that were way outside the 

50 dB line, how much weight in planning terms do you try to give to 

what’s so called “highly annoyed” when in actual fact there is probably 

no validity to that at all, and we have heard also evidence, for example 

urban streets typically have decibel levels well above what we see 35 

“highly annoyed”, so how do you unravel that, how do try to say “look, 

you’ve just got to accept that, that’s what is in the community today” 

and so to a weight I guess I am trying to get some understanding. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I think Mr Day was perhaps a little more nuanced than that, 40 

well at least that was my understanding of it.  He indicated that the 

responses to different types of noise generating activities weren’t 

similar, and airport activities were certainly at the higher end of that. 

 

 I think the other thing to perhaps keep in note is that the 50 dBA 45 

contour recommends the outer boundary of where that 50 is and were 
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not at that point - as you move towards the airport the noise levels 

increase and the frequency of planes increases as well over time, then 

the level of effects generated will be greater than what is being received 

as of now. 

 5 

  [5.05 pm] 

 

MR SAX:   Once again, as a planner, Mr Day made the comment that, if 

people think their complaints will not really get heard or get much 

traction, they are quite unlikely to complain of these effects.  So going 10 

to a planning regime where there is a consent notices or encumbrances 

on titles, so there is densification, where there is a very clear flagging 

of what is the affected properties; do you consider that a very helpful 

type of tool to minimise potential complaints? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   It certainly brings awareness to the issue.  I would not 

recommend and I do not even think from an administrative point of 

view that no complaints covenance over the size of the area we are 

talking about would be a valid mechanism.  Obviously on LIMs it 

invites some knowledge around it, and I guess that all assists. 20 

 

 But I guess from my experience I do not think it will eradicate those 

complaints altogether. 

 

MR SAX:   Probably one final question, one that I have thought about a little, 25 

the – Mr Day also said in his evidence that there has been significant 

noise reductions over the last period of time, part of the evidence that 

we had of some of the complaints that were particularly identified 

weren’t from commercial operations, they were from helicopters or 

fixed wing craft, I am assuming that, the evolution of science, jets are 30 

going to get a lot quieter again in another 10 or 20 years’ time – who 

knows. 

 

 And so background noises, urban environments will increase, unless 

we get rid of cars for something else and going probably going to 35 

continue to increase.  So is that a fact that you think about in planning 

of trying to reflect or look ahead, because there is no exact science 

today, but of trying to predict what is then appropriate for planning 

controls today? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   Sir, it probably goes well beyond my expertise to be able to 

answer that one.  All I can indicate is that Mr Day in his evidence has 

indicated that when they looked at the revised contours, they looked at 

the fleet make up and sort of - - -  

 45 

MR SAX:   Existing? 
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MR BONIS:  - - - they looked at some of those things and, all I can do is, is 

look at the plan and say, “This is what the line is and this is what it 

represents.  Is it a constraint? And if it is a constraint, how much weight 

do you give it?” – that is all I can do as a planner. 5 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr Bonis, good evening. 

 

MR BONIS:   Hello, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just going to talk to you first, ask you first questions 15 

around the interpretation of policy statement and then go from there. 

 

 If you go to your paragraph, I think you pick this up at paragraph 110, 

and if we could put it on the screen please – I want to first of all take 

you to policy 6.3.1 of the policy statement.  Okay, so looking down that 20 

list there, if you could have a look at paragraph 3, cast your eye over 

that – you think paragraph 3 is relevant to what we need to think about 

here? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it is. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not know if you – you may have, I know that you 

covered it somewhere in your evidence but I did not pick it up in this 

particular discussion, but it seems to me, tell me if you take a different 

approach; it is effectively related to recovery and rebuilding just as 30 

much as 6.3.5 is, that is the first thing is it not, both of them are in the 

context of recovery and rebuilding? 

 

MR BONIS:   They are, yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is a policy of “enablement” to that end, isn’t it? – 

enabling development, including intensification and obviously that is 

recognised with the important qualifier, in appropriate location? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I would agree with that. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just picking up on that one, it seems to me that it has a 

helpful relationship to try to understand 6.3.5, do you agree with that? 



 Page 973 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

  [5.10 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   It would certainly be part of the mix, Sir.  6.3.5 in relation to 

infrastructure obviously would give some colour to what appropriate 

locations may well be. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we consider the principles of interpretation it is 

something that we would put in the context or immediate context of the 

policy to understand policy 6.3.5, both there to achieve the related 

objectives? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I don’t wish to tease you on this but do you wish to 

put on record why you didn’t address it in your analysis of 6.3.5?  And 15 

as I say I may have overlooked it, I know that you mention it 

somewhere along the line but it didn’t seem to be in this context? 

 

 Perhaps you could come back to that, you may be able to find a 

reference at some stage. 20 

 

MR BONIS:   I am reasonably confident, sir, it was one of the matters that I 

have raised in my summary, the legislative summary of things in the 

round. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, we will have a look for it there.  Just coming to 

6.3.5 now and I just want to have a look at a couple of aspects of this.  

So if we go to paragraph 4 to start with.  Now, it is quite a mouthful but 

looking at what is in 4, you will see first of all there are commas, the 

first comma on the fourth line and then another comma two lines down.  30 

So looking at those commas, do you agree that 4 divides itself into 

three phrases that relate to each other? 

 

MR BONIS:   I actually read after the second comma that those elements relate 

specifically to the noise sensitive activities within the contour, they are 35 

not separated as three different stanzas. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, just looking at structure for a start, forget about 

relationships, look at structure.  Structurally it is three phrases, correct? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we should look at each of those three phrases now then 

there is the question of relationships.  So if we look at the last phrase, 

well, let us look at words next.  The first phrase uses the word “new 45 

development”, two words.  The second phrase going to that uses the 
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word “activities” in the plural.  The third phrase uses the word 

“activity” in the singular. 

 

 Now, tell me if you have a different view.  As I see that the last phrase, 

using the word “activity” relates to the two preceding phrases, in other 5 

words “activity” relates to “new development” and “activity” relates to 

“noise sensitive activities” in the second phrase, do you agree with 

that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And so the conclusion I draw from that would be that if 

the words “unless” can follow, if you qualify in the third phrase, ie you 

are in under that, you qualify for one of those three categories, 4 

doesn’t apply at all, do you agree with that? 15 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, sir, can you take me through that again please? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, if we look at the “unless the activity is within” then 

it has got three descriptions, 1, 2 and 3. 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we say, “Well, my activity is within 1 or 2 or 3” the 

consequence of that, as I read that phrase, is that paragraph doesn’t 25 

apply, do you agree with that? 

 

  [5.15 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How about at 5?  If we go to paragraph 5 please.  So take 

a moment to just reflect on paragraph 5, which you refer to in your 

evidence, and note the relevance of it. 

 35 

 So the first point I see about 5 is that its topic is infrastructure 

generally, to start with.  Do you agree with that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then after the comma, we have effectively got a 

subordinate phrase, don’t we?  You say “primary obligation is to 

manage effects, a subset of that is to do some avoiding of activities in 

the circumstances described there”.  Do you agree with that? 

 45 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And one of those circumstances is that there is a 

consequence for a type of infrastructure called strategic infrastructure 

and freight hubs, of which the airport is a part.  Do you agree with that?  

 5 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So looking at all of that, that is saying to me that an aspect 

of this policy I to manage the effects of all types of land use activities, 

do you agree with that? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not just noise sensitive ones.  And avoiding those that 

have that potential to limit the efficient and effective provision, 15 

operation, maintenance or upgrade et cetera of that infrastructure.  That 

is obviously correct, isn’t it? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So thinking right back to policy 6.3.13 we can see that 

these two policies work together, don’t they?  In other words on 

assumption for the moment that 4 does not apply, 5 applies and sits 

well with 6.3.1, paragraph 3, in the sense they are both enabling and 

managing, enabling as in appropriate locations, what is appropriate 25 

while 5 assists us in terms of determining whether it is appropriate or 

not, do you agree with that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So let us just take that a bit further in terms of what we 

mean by, well actually there is one other thing I want to take you to 

before I go to the substance of this provision, we will come back to 

this.  But your evidence at 1.1.9, go to 1.1.9 next.  And that is just one 

orientation reference, but you discuss in various parts of your evidence 35 

the LURP, and you make something of the point as to when the LURP 

made changes to the Operative District Plan and the Regional Policy 

Statement by the insertion of chapter 6.  And that is through the actions 

under that document and its associated appendices as you explain in 

your evidence.  That is correct, isn’t it? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then there are general statements in the LURP which 

we probably do not need to go to.  I want to take you to appendix 2, at 45 

amendment 5, which is on the screen, if you could blow that up please.  
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Thank you.  Have a look at that policy 6.3.A.7 for a moment, and I 

want to ask you some questions.  Tell me when you are familiar enough 

with it. 

 

MR BONIS:   It is in my evidence, sir, I have referred to it. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so the first thing about that policy is that the 

insertion of that policy changed the plan, but it did not, there was no 

associated policy or direction, not defer to make changes to the 

planning regime.  Do you accept that?  In other words you did not 10 

freeze things at that point in time? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the next thing is if you have a look at that list and 15 

look at the second point.  That word activities as you read it, it is not 

existing activities, it is activities generally, and I think your evidence is 

consistent with that. It allows for new activities? 

 

MR BONIS:   It does, and I have indicated that that is quite appropriate. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we take a scenario where the district plan was 

changed to add to the activity categories within that plan even further, 

it would not be in contravention of that policy, would it? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   I think what I have indicated in my evidence, sir, is that I see 

that clause, because it was introduced - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want you to answer this question on the basis of 

what you are seeing on the screen.  Not repeat your evidence. 30 

 

  [5.20 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   Activities as defined in the City Plan, I take it as both the spatial 

context of what those living zones are but also the extent to which 35 

those activities are identified within the city plan.  Otherwise - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, so we take the spatial zone, take the living site, take 

the list of activities in it and take the plan change which expanded the 

scope of intensification possible under that plan. 40 

 

 All of that could be done and not offend this policy, could it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And the other thing about this is this policy relates to that 

plan, that is obviously the case, you would accept that when we read 

the LURP as a whole, we must read it in light of the amendments that 

are directed to be made to the plan in terms of understanding its 

intention? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And so just looking at this intention, it is fair to say, is it 

not, that there is nothing inconsistent in the scheme of changes made to 10 

the Operative Plan and the capacity to allow for new activities to go 

into the replacement residential zones under the Proposed Plan, at least 

not so far as the LURP is concerned.  Do you accept that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Not quite my interpretation is because - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Based on the statutory interpretation principles, I want 

you to stick to those.  As has been addressed in submissions for CIAL. 

 

MR BONIS:   My interpretation of it is that it was introduced at the same time 20 

as the LURP changes around intensification. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So from the statutory interpretation principles that CIAL 

has made part of its submissions, why do you disagree with me? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   My interpretation is that it is the activities defined in the City 

Plan at the time that the LURP changes were made, so that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where does that come from, the statutory interpretation 

principles that we must apply? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   It comes from my interpretation of reading - - - 

 

SJH:   Sorry, that was not the question, Mr Bonis. 

 35 

MR BONIS:   I cannot answer it then, sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to go back to – I want to go back to this 

concept of paragraph 5 of obviously, 6.3.5, and I have some further 

questions on this. 40 

 

 I want you to look at the words “potential to limit”. That, as I 

understand it, is something we should look at the associated principle 

reasons and explanations text below (ph 3.21) in regard to, I think you 

would agree with that, that is part of your evidence? 45 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, it is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So when we got this concept of how much limit is 

intended here in order for this policy to give a direction to avoid, we 

have to give it some proportionality, that is right, is it not, and the 5 

explanatory statement guides us on that?  Proportionality in terms of 

what we mean by limit? 

 

MR BONIS:   Quite correct, yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we think about that, the explanatory text talks about 

the compromise of the ability of infrastructure to continue to operate 

efficiently and effectively. 

 

 That would be an example of the sort of limits referred to, consistent 15 

with the other policies as well? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If there is a real compromise.  And there could be two 20 

sources of that, could there not, one which could be a direct limit, ie 

something about the activity, actually limited activities, let us say 

somebody decides to develop a free range chicken farm around the – 

oh, no, chickens do not fly – you know what I mean though? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I do, there is a direct activity that actually limit operational 

aspects, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, in another consequence, another type of limit is what 

we call this reverse sensitivity limit which is given acknowledgement 30 

in the explanatory text as you have covered off. 

 

 And so if we look at the explanatory text, and it talks about the 

operation of strategic infrastructure can affect the liveability of 

residential developments and their vicinity, despite the application of 35 

practical mitigation measures to address affects, which in turn exerts 

pressure on the infrastructure to further mitigate their effects, it is better 

to instead select development options where such reverse sensitivity 

constraints do not exist. 

 40 

  [5.25 pm] 

 

 So, I want to just first of all broaden how we look at “reverse 

sensitivity” in terms of how it has evolved in resource management 

practice, and you would be pretty familiar with that? 45 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I mean it would be fair to say, would it not, that, if we are 

trying to characterise what reverse sensitivity is, it is really what 

happens when a new activity comes into an established environment 5 

and has – and does not naturally fit with that environment, in other 

words, there is an issue of “incompatibility” by nature of the new 

activity and what is already there – I mean in general terms. 

 

MR BONIS:   In general terms it has the sensitivity to the environmental 10 

effects in that environment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In a sense which actually goes, not so much sensitivity, 

but actually goes to that extreme end of sensitivity the point of being 

incompatible neighbours, is that not right? I will give you an example 15 

and you tell me if these are fair examples. 

 

 Lifestyle blocks beside quarries, has been often a source of reverse 

sensitivity conflict, has it not? Somebody comes into get away from the 

madding crowd and finds himself a madding quarry? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And so they find it an intolerable relationship fair to say? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It motivates sufficiently in their minds to do something 

about it? 

 30 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Fair to say? And reverse sensitivity as a concept does not 

really get triggered does it by the unrealistic person, you might regard 

is an exception to the norm, that has got undue sensitivity about 35 

everything, in other words, it is really – it surfaces as an issue when 

there is a momentum behind it in the same way as this exerting 

pressure word described in this statement, that is right is it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   I would agree with that, but as Mr Day indicated it is a numbers 40 

game in terms of this particular - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will come to that. 

 

MR BONIS:   - - - sensitivity. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We will come to that – and I have got some issues with 

Mr Day’s foundation and I will come to that too. 

 

 So lifestyle blocks and quarries, another example could be, normal 

farming operations and lifestylers that want to come in and not get 5 

woken up by – well let us say vineyards and people want to go and 

enjoy the vineyards from a viewing point of view but cannot stand the 

noise of them when they are trying to deal with frost. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is another reverse sensitivity issue. And are you 

familiar with the fact that, as this practice has evolved, one of the 

things that has quite commonly happened, is that in the context of 

people submitting in opposition to what somebody is doing on their 15 

farm or vineyard or quarry at the consenting phase, they have come 

along and objected, and that has given rise to the anxiety, that is one 

example is it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And turning that on its head, are you aware of examples 

where for instance there is established infrastructure or a quarry, and it 

is the lifestyler that is seeking consent to do something, let us say it is a 

developer of lifestyle blocks, and quid pro quo for consenting to the 25 

lifestyle block development has been the imposition of “no complaints 

covenance on the titles”? 

 

MR BONIS:   I am aware that that has occurred in some instances. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is typically, is it not, in a situation where there is 

that momentum risk, in other words, a sufficient pool of people is 

available to create a risk to the ongoing normal operations of that 

established activity, is that fair to say? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we looked at that context, if we start with the 

example of a new Greenfields development near the airport, outside of 

the exceptions list let us say, that would be a reasonably comparable 40 

example potentially would it not, for someone who wants to locate 

close and develop lifestyle blocks, akin to reverse sensitivity risk with 

other infrastructure, that is an easily seen example? 
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  [5.30 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   It is an easy example to see. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is true, isn’t it, that reverse sensitivity as a 5 

construct allows for development potential on the part of one or 

continuation of activities at the expense of limiting the other in terms of 

land use opportunity and development opportunity, that is the nature of 

it? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and I have identified that in my evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and at the heart of that construct is the question of 

equity, isn’t it? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It just strikes me as unusual, given all of that, to see a 

reverse sensitivity regime imposed on what might be regarded as 

typical development or further development of well-established 20 

residential activities associated with a well-established airport facility 

where the two have existed and coexisted for so long together under the 

Plan.  Don’t you think it is unusual to bring the reverse sensitivity 

construct into that setting? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   What I have tried to convey in my evidence - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it unusual? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I don’t, I think it is - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where have you seen it before? 

 

MR BONIS:   It is a - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where have you seen it before in practice? 

 

MR BONIS:   I couldn’t provide an example. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is unusual in your experience? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, I want to just ask you now, this is the final topic, 

and that is, as I said to you I was going to come back to, is Mr Day’s 45 

foundation.  Now, Mr Day referred to two sources of foundation apart 
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from obviously his own extensive experience, expertise and so forth, 

which is obviously well known.  But in terms of explaining other 

materials he was relying upon, he referred to the Miedema study which 

he referenced in his evidence.  He referred to the Taylor Baines study 

and he noted when he addressed what you see on the screen, which is 5 

figure 3, the fact that the Miedema study has been updated and he gave 

us a reference for that, which was 2001, and that was Miedema and 

Oudshoorn.  Have you read either of those international studies? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I have not, I have relied on the evidence of Mr Day. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, first of all come back to the Taylor Baines analysis.  

Now, as we learnt from Mr Day that graph was derived from the 

extrapolation exercise which Marshall Day undertook on the basis of 

the Taylor Baines study, do you understand that? 15 

 

MR BONIS:   I understand that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And this might just be a question of clarification for me, 

because I truly don’t understand, but those dots on that page in terms of 20 

around the trend line, I am terrible at counting, but I have counted 12, 

and I may have to go back to his evidence on this, but do you recall 

whether or not those were 12 points of measurement for dwellings and 

only 12? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   I couldn’t answer, I have relied on Mr Day’s evidence, I haven’t 

looked at the material behind it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr Chairman, the other thing is that we may need to 

get the associated studies before us, perhaps through counsel, the 30 

international ones.  I think I have obtained a copy of one of them and I 

have to read it, honestly I have only just received it this afternoon but 

as - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, it may be that we will have to recall Mr Day as well. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, perhaps we should, and it may be that if you answer 

this question for me, but on the face of it, it looks like those studies 

may be based on, for instance - I have got a note here about one 

parameter of the study, from 27,081 observations and 19 studies which 40 

were internationally based.  And I have got another which is another 

parameter again, the same number of observations, the same number of 

international studies. 

 

 You will be well familiar as a planning expert with the importance of 45 

foundation for expert opinion? 
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MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does it strike you that if that is right, if that is factually 

what I have understood it to be, that that is way and above a more 5 

sound foundation for opinion than what we see in figure 3. 

 

  [5.35 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   On its face, yes.  10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are familiar with the New Zealand Standard that 

Mr Day referred to? 

 

MR BONIS:   The 1992, 6805, yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you know that that standard where it sets its line 

of out of control is a suggested line, obviously subject to the ability of 

Council’s to review and change and make it more restricted at 55 dBA. 

Looking at the graph on the screen, I am right to understand, aren’t I, 20 

that that is effectively well-supported by those international studies, 

because that is effectively how they derived at 55, isn’t it? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is probably a question better put to Mr Day. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well I did put it to him and I will go back to the 

answer.  But looking at the standard more broadly, it is fair to say that 

that is the guidance document which New Zealand Standards has put to 

Councils as a vehicle for them to consider their land use planning 

controls, that is fair to say, isn’t it, on airport noise? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and I have raised that in my evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you have.  And I am right, aren’t I, that at the 

essence of that standard is the concept of getting these lines right by 35 

careful community engagement through resource management 

processes? 

 

MR BONIS:   That’s correct. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we have to give effect to the Regional Policy 

Statement, so my questioning doesn’t in any way deny that theory of 

your evidence whatsoever.  But if we come back to policy 6.3.5, 

paragraph 5, do you agree with me that in order to properly give effect 

to that policy direction we should do so by analysis of the evidence and 45 

information before us to take a properly informed position? 
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MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Hello Mr Bonis, I have just got a couple of, 

hopefully fairly straightforward questions, and they really related 

around how Mr Day’s factual information leads to conclusions of 10 

effects, which then lead on to how to manage them.   

 

 It’s actually summarised on the board behind you, but you probably 

recall Mr Day considering an example of an existing dwelling being on 

the 55 dB contour, and he said that if you had 55 dB at the façade of an 15 

existing regular house with its windows open, you would expect to get 

40 decibels inside the dwelling.  If you closed the windows you would 

expect that to reduce to 30 decibels, and if you had a modern building 

that didn’t have any windows that opened and shut at all, and relied on 

air-conditioning you would have 25 decibels inside.  Do you recall 20 

that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I do, sir. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Mr Day, when he answered my questions about that, said 25 

there wasn’t really much difference between a new dwelling and an 

existing dwelling with the windows closed, it was only a 5 decibel 

change, and that 5 decibel change was just noticeable or slightly more 

than that.  And that is probably right in so far as it goes.  But would you 

accept the proposition that the fair comparison of an existing 30 

established residential house with a new modern air-conditioned and 

insulated development would be the situation of the house that exists, 

having its windows open, particularly at night for ventilation and all 

those sorts of things, because they don’t have air-conditioning, and 

comparing that with the modern dwelling with the windows closed, 35 

because they create the same internal living environment.  Do you think 

that is a fair comparison to make? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir.   

 40 

DR MITCHELL:   Well given that then, and you have said that you are 

particularly concerned about amenity effects, isn’t a resident, especially 

at night when things like curfews and restriction on operations might 

arise, isn’t a resident of a modern purpose-built apartment that achieves 

25 decibels inside in a far better situation than the person in the house 45 
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that would have been there before that at 40 decibels with the window 

open? 

 

MR BONIS:   As a matter of logic, I would agree. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   So given that, what is the planning effects based reason for 

having amenity concerns about intensification in so far as night time 

amenity is concerned? 

 

  [5.40 pm] 10 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of night time amenity and assuming that parties are 

inside, which is a matter of logic, they would be, I understand and 

accept the proposition you are putting forward. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.  And the other thing that relates to that is that is 

also a numbers game as Mr Day said, and he explained in terms of the 

numbers that if you went from the current airport usage by aeroplanes 

to what is proposed in the planning horizon, there is effectively a 

doubling of the number of planes, he said that would add 3 dBA to the 20 

ambient noise environment as measured by this LDN. And he then said 

that that level of noise change is just noticeable, and I have checked the 

transcript and that is the word he used. 

 

 Given then that the level of outdoor amenity that people are expecting 25 

out into the future might be just noticeably different from the level of 

amenity that they are currently able to enjoy.  Would you agree with 

that?  On the basis that I have interpreted Mr Day’s statement 

correctly? 

 30 

MR BONIS:   Yes, my understanding of Mr Day was he was talking about the 

indoor noise levels.  I would have to go back and look at the transcript 

to pick that apart. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   He said that a change from 50 to 53 dBA, which is what 35 

would arise with the doubling of aircraft movements, with the 

assumptions that he made, well sorry, no assumptions are being made, 

resulted in a doubling of airport traffic result in a 3 dBA change in 

noise, and that that was just noticeable. 

 40 

MR BONIS:   He outlined the brackets, didn’t he, and indicated that between 

the sort of one and three was barely discernible. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   One to three, and he said at the top range it was just 

noticeable and then beyond that - - -  45 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, yes, I recall. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So if that is the case the loss of amenity from something 

that exists now to something that is just noticeably different would 

appear to me to be a very small change in effect, and not one that a 5 

normal person would be particularly worried about? 

 

MR BONIS:   Well, all I can do is defer to Mr Day and sort of what he has 

indicated is what would be the level of amenity based on the surveys 

that he has interpreted in terms of what those effects could be and the 10 

number of highly annoyed or otherwise. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Right.  And I guess the final question is about night time 

curfews, which is the consequence of any real or perceived reverse 

sensitivity effect, I think that is the airport’s primary concern from an 15 

operational point of view. 

 

MR BONIS:   I think it is the airport’s concern, as a planner I - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, no, that is what the airport’s concern is, and you have 20 

explained in planning reasons how we might deal with that.  But given 

the example that I gave you before which you agreed with me about, 

about how a modern apartment internally has a better noise amenity 

than an existing house with its windows open, which is the like with 

like comparison, it is pretty hard in those circumstances to see how a 25 

curfew as a result of intensification with new modern built apartments 

would ever materialise, isn’t it? 

 

MR BONIS:   It would certainly reduce the proposition.  I would agree with 

that. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you sir, that is all I have. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Bonis, I understood you to say that what is being sought 

by CIAL here, there is a somewhat more restrictive regime than the 35 

current Operative Plan, did I understand that correctly? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, sir, no - - -  

 

SJH:   Okay, all right, you do not need to take it further.  Again, as I understand 40 

your evidence  the number of highly annoyed people from now to 2028 

with the allowable intensification would increase by 183? 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct, based on the scenario that I have - - -  

 45 

SJH:   - - -which is 15 per year? 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Now, Judge Hassan has asked you most of the questions I was going to 

ask you about interpretation but can I take it from your answers to him 5 

that you now accept that on its face, leaving aside the other matters that 

you rely on, that 6.3.5.4 allows intensification within the dBA line in 

existing residentially zoned areas?  Or do I have to take you through it 

line by line by coming back tomorrow? 

 10 

  [5.45 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   No, you certainly do not, sir. What I have suggested in my 

evidence and I certainly agree with, it reverses an orthodox approach of 

avoidance within residential areas, and one of the outcomes is a 15 

possibility within that is intensification. 

 

SJH:   So on its face its meaning is clear? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 20 

 

SJH:   And the first rule of interpretation is, we give words their normal 

meaning? 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   And you reached a different conclusion by combining it with five, I 

understand, by referring to a number of policies? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   And central to those policies is the protection of the 50 dB line. 

 

MR BONIS:   The integrity of it yes, sir. 

 35 

SJH:   The integrity of it, thank you. And how many years does that go back? 

 

MR BONIS:   I could not tell you, sir. 

 

SJH:   It is certainly something the drafter of the RPS would have been aware 40 

of? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   And the Ministers would have been aware of. 45 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   You do not appear when you have done this to balance those policy 

matters that support your client’s position with the ones enabling 

recovery around intensification. 5 

 

MR BONIS:   I would not go that far, sir. I have certainly identified what those 

provisions are, and the cost benefit analysis that I have provided I have 

taken a view based on the evidence that I had, that if there are other more 

appropriate places for that intensification to go then that should be where 10 

they go. My understanding of the Council’s evidence, is that there was 

more than sufficient opportunity, the supply and demand equilibrium in 

terms of residential demand could be met in other locations. 

 

SJH:   If we accept it, if we accept the Crown evidence we are in a different 15 

position, aren’t we? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I understand that Mr Schellekens has identified that there 

might be a shortfall of up to 5,000 homes so, yes, sir, and that would go 

directly to the cost benefit analysis that I have provided for the Panel. 20 

 

SJH:   So is it fair to say now, because I think you said the position you 

reached you found very difficult, as an interpretive process? 

 

MR BONIS:   And that is probably apparent in my evidence as well, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Would “tortuous” be a good word? 

 

MR BONIS:   I think that is a fair point. 

 30 

SJH:   So it is probably more you relying now on five and four in any shape or 

form? 

 

MR BONIS:   As I have said in evidence, is that, I see four simply reverses the 

orthodox approach and then five indicates how you manage 35 

development within that. 

 

SJH:   So given the tortuous nature, as you agree, in fairness to the people 

concerned because it concerns me somewhat, in dealing with other 

people’s interpretation which took 6.3.4 to mean exactly what the word 40 

said, you say “to some extent I accept that such a view has a simplistic 

charm”. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 

 45 
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SJH:   Do you not understand why somebody might read that and think it is a 

rather arrogant statement, given your tortuous approach? 

 

MR BONIS:   Not at all, sir. The point that I was making is that, my 

understanding from the evidence of Mr Day and Ms McIntyre, is that 5 

effectively no one – there is no need to read beyond four. 

 

SJH:   So words meaning what they say to you is “simplistic charm”, you think 

you could have put it rather better? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   Certainly the - - -  

 

SJH:   Do you think you could have put it rather better? 

 

MR BONIS:   I could, sir, but the point that I was trying to make is that, if it is 15 

read in that way we end up with a very broad and certain inconsistency 

to provisions across all the residential suburban zones, and that is it 

provides clarity, it is simple, and that was my use of the phrase, sir.  If 

it has been taken in any other way, I apologise, it certainly was not the 

intent - that reading four and stopping at four means that you get a 20 

consistent and simple set of provisions across the board. 

 

SJH:   And your way is to adopt a tortuous approach that happens to align - 

tortuous approach of interpretation that happens to align with your 

client’s desired position? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   No, my client’s – I do not have a client – the party that I am 

representing, indicated for something that will restrict - - -  

 

SJH:   Well I presume they instructed you? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   They did, sir, but I - - -  

 

SJH:   But they are your client. 

 35 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, I am providing planning evidence for them, and their 

position in submissions is more restrictive than mine. 

 

SJH:   Okay. All right, Mr Hardie, anything arising from the Panel’s questions, 

Mr Carranceja? 40 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott. 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 
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SJH:   Ms Appleyard. 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [5.50 pm] 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I just want to clarify this last matter.  My 

understanding of your evidence is that you effectively agree with the 

planners and always have, that 4 gets you off the starting blocks, you 

cannot have a situation of complete avoidance, and you have always 

been agreed on that? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

SJH:   That is a matter for us on the evidence which we have gone through and 

I can take you to plenty of places where that is not the case, 15 

Ms Appleyard. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, I will deal with it in submissions.  My 

understanding of Mr Bonis’ position is that the difference between the 

parties is they all agree this gets you off the starting block to 20 

intensification.  The question is how far do you go, and that has to be 

decided on the evidence, but I will make submissions on that. 

 

 I do not understand - - - 

 25 

SJH:   I think there were an awful lot of this and an awful lot of this evidence 

has belonged in submissions, not in evidence. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   To be blunt. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.51 pm] 

 

SJH:   All right thank you, we will adjourn until 9.30 tomorrow morning. 35 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Sir, sorry, I just had a very minor housekeeping matter in 

relation to the supplementary statement that was filed by Mr Blair 

earlier this week.  I just wanted to confirm that the Crown does not 

wish to ask Mr Blair any questions arising from that. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you Ms Silcock, we will note that. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.51 PM UNTIL 

FRIDAY, 17 APRIL 2015 45 


